
CITY OF WALHALLA  
Main Street to the Mountains 

 

 

206 North Church Street · PO Box 1099 · Walhalla, SC 29691 
864.638.4343 Phone · www.cityofwalhalla.com 

Tim Hall 
Mayor 

 
Keith Pace 

Mayor Pro-Tem 
 

Josh Holliday 
Councilman 

 
Kenny Johns 
Councilman 

 
Grant Keehn 
Councilman 

 
Sarai Melendez 
Councilwoman 

 
Josh Thomas 
Councilman 

 
 
 

Michael Kozlarek 
City Attorney 

 
Celia Boyd Myers 

City Administrator 
 

AGENDA  
WALHALLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

June 18, 2024 
5:30 PM 

City Hall | 206 N Church St, Walhalla, SC 
 
 

I. Call to Order and Welcome                   Mayor Hall 
 

II. Moment of Silence  
 

III. Pledge of Allegiance  
 

IV. Approval of Agenda 
 

V. Approval of Minutes:  
A. Regular Council Meeting, May 14, 2024 
B. Committee Meeting, June 4, 2024        
  

VI. Public Comment (Public Comment is limited to 5 minutes and must be directed to 
Council, per City Ordinance 2022-8) 
 

VII. Mayoral Proclamations 
A. Proclamation 2024-06: A Proclamation to Observe June 19, 2024, as Juneteenth 

 
VIII. First and Final Reading of Resolutions 

A. None  
 

IX. Administrator’s Report 
A. Monthly Reports  

 
X. Second, Final Reading and Public Review of Ordinances 

A. Ordinance 2024-11: An Ordinance to raise revenue and adopt a budget for 
general, enterprise and special revenue funds, herein known as the “City of 
Walhalla: Budget for Fiscal Year July 1, 2024- June 30, 2025,” and other matter 
related thereto. (Includes a Public Hearing) 
 

XI. First Reading of Ordinances: None 
 

XII. Discussion and/or Action Items (to include Vote and/or Action on matters 
brought up for discussion, if required) 
A. CC&I Proposal  
B. PEBA Eligibility 
C. MOA with Westminster for Mosquito Spraying 
D. Wagner Award 



CITY OF WALHALLA  
Main Street to the Mountains 

 

 

206 North Church Street · PO Box 1099 · Walhalla, SC 29691 
864.638.4343 Phone · www.cityofwalhalla.com 

Tim Hall 
Mayor 

 
Keith Pace 

Mayor Pro-Tem 
 

Josh Holliday 
Councilman 

 
Kenny Johns 
Councilman 

 
Grant Keehn 
Councilman 

 
Sarai Melendez 
Councilwoman 

 
Josh Thomas 
Councilman 

 
 
 

Michael Kozlarek 
City Attorney 

 
Celia Boyd Myers 

City Administrator 
 

E. July Meetings 
 

XIII. Executive Session (to include Vote and/or Action on matters discussed, if required):  
A. Legal Issue: Annexation  

 
XIV. Mayor Comments                                    Mayor Hall 

 
XV. Adjournment   



   
 

   
 

City of Walhalla  

City Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, June 4, 2024 • 5:30 PM 

Council Chambers • City Hall 
Walhalla, South Carolina 

Minutes 
 

In accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, Section 30-4-10 et seq., South Carolina Code, 
1976, the media was duly notified of the date, time, and place of the meeting. 

 
Councilmembers Present: Mayor Tim Hall, Mayor Pro Tem Keith Pace, Grant Keehn, Josh Thomas, 
Sarai Melendez, Kenny Johns, and Josh Holliday  

Councilmembers Absent:  

Staff Present: Celia Myers, Kaylee Osbon, Russ Price, John Galbreath, Mark Bloomer, Breanna 
Richardson, Davy Lee, Andrew Martinez, Tim Rice, Will Bates, and Scott Parris  

 

Welcome: Mayor Hall called the meeting to order at 5:31 PM and welcomed all present to the 
meeting.   

Moment of Silence: Mayor Hall called for a moment of silence. 

Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Hall asked Councilman Pace to lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Agenda: Mayor Hall called for a motion to approve the agenda. The agenda was 
unanimously approved.  

 

Parks, Recreation, & Tourism 

Mr. Thomas asked if it was possible to notify families via text through Rec Desk of sport registration and 
Ms. Melendez asked if there was a way to change the language. Ms. Richardson stated she would 
investigate it but believed that it was possible. Mrs. Myers asked the committee if they would be 
interested in demolishing the entire concession stand and rebuilding it with bathrooms or remodeling 
what is there. She stated she could get bids for both options. The committee agreed to get bids for 
both options and to see which would be the best.  

Planning and Community Development  

Ms. Melendez gave an overview of the Comp Plan and where it is currently and discussed the 
“Walkhalla” initiative. She then explained that the Walhalla Boys Scouts are interested in learning more 
about the city to earn a badge. Mr. Bloomer then gave an overview of the Community Development 
Association Conference. Ms. Melendez and Mr. Bloomer explained they would be hosting a Website 
Workshop on June 27th at the county library for those who need help navigating the website. The 
committee suggested that it be recorded for others to view online.   

 



   
 
 

Utilities  

Mr. Parris gave an update on the Highway 11 project and explained that in a few weeks he would be 
coordinating with iTron to shut water off. Mr. Parris then explained that sidewalk repairs have taken 
place, and his crew has begun to relocate meters. Mayor Hall asked for clarification on funds that were 
received from the county. Mr. Parris stated the only funds he can think of were given to help work on a 
joint project with other municipalities. Mr. Pace asked if they were good on supplies and Mr. Pace 
stated for right now, they are.  

Public Works  

Mr. Price stated that mosquito spraying would begin soon and gave props to his department for 
working over to get trash picked up because of the holiday. Mr. Galbreath went over the different 
maintenance and upkeep from the previous month.  

Public Safety  

Chief Rice explained that he currently has a vehicle down. For Stumphouse Mountain Park he is waiting 
on the signs to arrive, and he is always looking for more volunteers to help in the park. Chief Bates 
explained they are doing more in-house training for his new hires.  

Finance Committee  

Mrs. Myers highlighted the following changes in the FY 2024-2025 Budget: Sanitation had an increase 
in certain line items, longevity plan for raises, giving funding to the Oconee Chamber and DDC, 
creating an Accounting Clerk position, and creating a supplemental budget for the remaining funds in 
Stumphouse. Mr. Holliday made a motion for Mrs. Myers to proceed with the supplemental budget; 
Mr. Johns seconded. The motion passed. Mr. Pace stated the highlighted numbers within the budget 
are the changes. Mr. Holliday made a motion to pass the budget to the full council; Mr. Johns 
seconded. The motion passed.  

General Government  

Mayor Hall proposed the Wagner Award for citizens of Walhalla to nominate other citizens who they 
believe have done a great civic duty for the community. The winner would be awarded a plaque, a 
name plate at the city and $1,000. Ms. Melendez asked if there could be an educational aspect to the 
award. Mr. Keehn stated that he did not like the idea of giving out money and the award itself should 
be enough. The motion to move to the full council passed 6-1; Mr. Keehn opposing. 

Mrs. Myers gave an update on the Quarterly Communication Report for social media. She stated that 
overall, it was a positive increase in engagement.  

Mrs. Myers then went over the CC&I Proposal for a new building and code inspector. Mr. Pace made a 
motion to move to the full council; Mr. Johns seconded. The motion passed 7-0.  

Mr. Keehn explained that he felt the Finance Chair was doing a great job and worked the hardest but 
felt that all of the council should be on the Finance Committee because they involve every person. He 
stated that he felt decisions were made without consulting department heads and the committee chair. 
Mr. Pace stated he disagreed and that everyone was consulted properly. Mr. Keehn stated in the past 
that every council member was on the Finance Committee and Mr. Pace stated that was not true. Mr. 
Keehn apologized for his misunderstanding. Mayor Hall asked if any other council had a thought on 
this matter. Mr. Holliday stated that discussions took place during council for all to give input and the 



   
 
changes requested at the last meeting were presented tonight. Ms. Melendez agreed with Mr. Keehn 
and stated that she dealt with her grievances in private but felt that she was not consulted about her 
committee and now has a committee with no budget. Mrs. Myers stated that removing the Zoning 
Administrator position was her decision because it was not able to be funded and that she would take 
the blame for that one. Mr. Keehn stated that it was not to blame but just wanted to be consulted on 
decisions when they involved his committee. Mayor Hall suggested that decisions go through the 
proper committee first and then brought to the Finance Committee.  

Mayor Comments 

None were provided.  

Hearing no further business, Mr. Holliday made a motion to adjourn; Mr. Johns seconded. The 
meeting adjourned unanimously at 7:50 PM.  

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

Kaylee Osbon, MBA 

 



City of Walhalla  
City Council 

Tuesday, May 14,2024 • 6:00 PM 
Council Chambers • City Hall 

Walhalla, South Carolina 
Minutes 

 

In accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, Section 30-4-10 et seq., South Carolina Code, 
1976, the media was duly notified of the date, time, and place of the meeting. 

 
Councilmembers Present: Mayor Tim Hall, Mayor Pro Tem Keith Pace, Grant Keehn, Kenny Johns, 
Josh Thomas, Sarai Melendez, and Josh Holliday  

Councilmembers Absent:  

Staff Present: Celia Myers, Kaylee Osbon, Chief Tim Rice, and Chief Will Bates,  

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM, with a quorum present to conduct 
the meeting and welcomed all present to the meeting.   

Moment of Silence: Mayor Hall called for a moment of silence. 

Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Hall asked Councilmember Holliday to lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Agenda: Mayor Hall called for a motion to approve the agenda. Mr. Keehn made a 
motion to approve the agenda; Mr. Holliday seconded. The agenda passed unanimously.  

Approval of Minutes: Mayor Hall called for a motion to approve the March 19, 2024, minutes. Mr. 
Johns moved to approve the minutes; Mr. Pace seconded. The minutes passed unanimously.  

Public Comments: Mayor Hall called for any public comments. Hearing none, Mayor Hall closed the 
public comment section.  

First and Final Reading of Resolutions 

Resolution 2024-05: A Resolution to Honor Senator Alexander for his 40 Years of Service: Mayor read 
the resolution. Mr. Johns made a motion to accept Resolution 2024-05; Mr. Pace seconded. The 
resolution passed unanimously. Senator Alexander then expressed his gratitude to the council and to 
the citizens of Walhalla.  

Resolution 2024-06: A Resolution to Recognize Kami Roach for Achievements in Basketball: Mayor 
read the resolution. Mr. Pace made a motion to accept Resolution 2024-06; Mr. Keehn seconded. The 
resolution passed unanimously.  

Administrator’s Comments: Mrs. Myers presented the monthly reports as presented in the packet. 

Second, Final Reading and Public Review of Ordinance 2024-10: An Ordinance to amend the 
City of Walhalla FY 2023-2024 Budget, Appendix A General Fund Fees; and other matters 
related thereto 

Mrs. Myers explained that his adjustment would cover the cost of the uniforms. Mayor Hall opened the 
floor to public comments, hearing none he closed public comments. Mr. Pace made a motion to pass 
Ordinance 2024-10; Mr. Johns seconded. Ordinance 2024-10 passed unanimously.  



First Reading of Ordinance 2024-11: An Ordinance to raise revenue and adopt a budget for 
general, water sewer and hospitality funds, herein known as the “City of Walhalla: Budget for 
Fiscal Year July 1, 2024- June 30, 2025,” and other matter related thereto.  

Mrs. Myers started by giving highlights of the budget, currently at $17 million with $5.5 million in 
special revenue, an additional 3-man water crew, a 3% increase for cost of living, and a 5% raise for 
those who have been employed for at least 5 years and then every 5 years after that. Mr. Pace made a 
motion to accept the FY 2024-2025 Budget at first reading; Mr. Johns seconded.  

Mayor Hall then asked each Councilmember for their thoughts on the budget.  

Mr. Holliday started and stated that he was good with the budget as it stands, for now.  

Mr. Keehn explained that he a few things he would like to discuss on behalf of the Sanitation 
Department. He expressed that Sanitation does not have any extra money for dumpsters or roll carts 
and requested more funds be placed in the budget. Mr. Pace explained that there would be extra 
money because the Fleet Management would not require as much funds. Mr. Keehn made a motion to 
add more funds to the roll cart and dumpster line; Mayor Hall seconded. The motion passed 
unanimously. Mr. Keehn then explained that Mr. Russ Price applies for a grant every year and will need 
money in the line item to be able to match it for next year. Mr. Keehn then urged council to add more 
money into Building Maintenance because their shops do not have heat. Mrs. Myers expressed that 
she would look at the line items and see how much they can add to them.  

Mr. Thomas said he did not have anything to add.  

Mr. Johns asked what the miscellaneous expense line. Mrs. Myers stated it was the selling of property 
and vehicle assets. 

Mr. Pace stated the numbers are balanced and real; and that he feels really good about this year's 
budget. He then stated that the Community Development Department is being cut and that the 
Recreation Department is having one person move to the Streets and Facilities. Department. He then 
stated that there will be an additional dollar adjustment to the water base rate to cover the bond. He 
stated the fleet management was included and has a big reduction from the first presentation and then 
asked Chief Rice to give an update. Chief Rice stated some vehicles did not need to be replaced. 
Because of this, $100,000 annually has decreased. In 2024, eleven new vehicles will be replaced, and 
in 2025 two vehicles will be replaced in water. He then stated that vehicle maintenance will be covered 
for regularly routine maintenance. Mr. Pace added that this will cut the mechanic position out and will 
save the city additional money and the city will save $1.14 million if they switch to this program. Mr. 
Holiday asked what the turnaround time was on maintenance And Chief Rice stated that we can use 
who we would like, so it would depend on who we go to. Mr. Pace stated. The fleet management is a 
good path and it'll help keep the vehicles updated, and Chief Rice knows this program and will be 
responsible for maintaining it. 

Mayor Hall then wanted to thank Mrs. Myers, Ashley Jones and Mr. Pace for their hard work on the 
budget. He said it takes $12 million to run the City of Walhalla, and to do this they must increase the 
mileage and have a three-dollar base increase on water. Mayor Hall then stated that the revenue target 
was not hit and that expenses were overspent. He wanted to emphasize that his goal was to have a 
realistic budget. And that last year and this year ARPA funds will be used to balance the budget along 
with selling property. He stated he understands that this is not the best way to balance the budget, but 
what they must do for this year and that they are already looking at how to create a balanced budget 
for next year.  



Ms. Melendez asked for clarification for the Economic Development Director that was discussed about 
being hired. She stated that the City has someone in this role with knowledge and experience. She 
explained the City Administrator has experience and can and has been fulfilling the responsibilities the 
director would. Ms. Melendez stated that we should maximize our resources with the community. She 
then thanked Mr. Pace, chair of the Finance Committee and staff for their help with the budget and 
liked how easy it was to understand.  

Mr. Keehn asked if the city and council could look into a consulting for economic development and the 
PRT Director. Mr. Pace explained the PRT Director will take on Parks and Tourism with the background 
and education to do so. Mayor Hall said he was in favor of the PRT Director and would not ignore a 
consulting group if they were interested. Mr. Keehn urged council to look into compensating 
employees and apply the 5% longevity for all employees that would be at and over 5 years this budget 
year. Mrs. Myers explained that it would be about an additional $84,000 to do this. Mayor Hall asked if 
there was any more discussion. Hearing none, Ordinance 2024-11passed in title only to the second 
reading 6-1, Mr. Keehn opposing.  

Oconee Cultivation Project MOA for Community Garden  

Mrs. Myers explained the MOA for the Community Garden was up for renewal. Ms. Melendez 
suggested that the city receives quarterly updates on the garden to make sure it stays maintained. 
Mayor Hall suggested it was monitored monthly. Mr. Pace made a motion to award the MOA; Mr. 
Johns seconded. The motion passed unanimously.  

Executive Session 

There was no Executive Session.  

Mayor Comments 

Mayor Hall thanked everyone for coming out and encouraged all citizens to remain patient while the 
City Council goes through this difficult process.  

Mr. Pace made a motion to adjourn the meeting; Ms. Melendez seconded. The meeting adjourned at 
7:24 PM. 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

Kaylee Osbon, MBA 
 

 

 



A PROCLAMATION 
TO OBSERVE JUNE 19, 2024, AS JUNETEENTH  

 
WHEREAS Juneteenth National Independence Day, also known as Juneteenth, is a historic 
event commemorating the end of slavery in the United States; and 
 
WHEREAS on June 19, 1865, two-and-a-half years after President Lincoln’s Emancipation 
Proclamation, Union General Gordon Granger arrived in Galveston, Texas, and announced the 
enforcement of the Emancipation Proclamation, effectively freeing the last remaining enslaved 
African Americans in the Confederate States; and 
 
WHEREAS Juneteenth commemorates African American freedom and the significant 
contributions of African Americans to our nation’s history, culture, and achievements, and our 
commitment to the ongoing pursuit of equality and justice for all as we strive for a more perfect 
union; and 
 
WHEREAS the observance of Juneteenth in the City of Walhalla provides an opportunity for all 
residents to celebrate freedom, embrace diversity, and appreciate the importance of freedom, 
equality, and greater opportunity, which are among our most cherished national principles; and 
 
WHEREAS the City of Walhalla recognizes the importance of fostering an inclusive 
environment where all citizens feel valued, respected, and empowered; and  
 
WHEREAS Walhalla City Council encourages all residents to join in activities and events that 
honor the significance of this day.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Tim Hall, Mayor of the City of Walhalla, do hereby encourage all 
residents in the City of Walhalla to observe June 19, 2024, as Juneteenth.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the City of 
Walhalla to be affixed this 18th day of June 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________           
Mayor Tim Hall 

 



CITY OF WALHALLA  
Main Street to the Mountains 

 

 

206 North Church Street · PO Box 1099 · Walhalla, SC 29691 
864.638.4343 Phone · www.cityofwalhalla.com 

Tim Hall 
Mayor 

 
Keith Pace 

Mayor Pro Tem 
 

Josh Holliday 
Councilman 

 
Kenny Johns 
Councilman 

 
Grant Keehn 
Councilman 

 
Sarai Melendez 
Councilwoman 

 
Josh Thomas 
Councilman 

 
 
 

Michael Kozlarek 
City Attorney 

 
Celia Boyd Myers 

City Administrator 
 

TO:  Mayor Hall and City Council  

RE:   May Monthly Report 

DATE:  June 13, 2024 

 
Please find enclosed an update on the City's recent activities for the month of May 2024, along 
with departmental monthly reports.  

Administration 

HR/Personnel: Began gathering information for upcoming wage and compensation study. 

Tourism: Restrooms for Stumphouse Mountain Park installed – awaiting concrete for the walkway. 
Signage being installed. The Wanderweg greenway held a ribbon cutting on June 1st. The City 
Farmer’s Market moved to the City Square on June 1st. The Walhalla Pool, in partnership with the 
YMCA, opened. 

Economic Development: Met with three prospective business owners, two interested in the 
downtown area, one on Hwy 28. 

Infrastructure/Projects: Sidewalk work began the first week in June. Mosquito spraying began last 
week. Continue maintenance and beautification efforts on City property.  

Funding Opportunities: Received a grant from Duke Energy for disaster recovery efforts. Awaiting 
word on two others. 

Finance/Budget: Revisions to the proposed FY 24-25 Budget. Committee meetings were held to 
review key changes. 

Community Engagement: Participated in the Walhalla United event with +/- 70 in attendance. 
Planning the inaugural State of Walhalla event for June 20. 



City of Walhalla 
Development Services Department 

206 N Church St. • P.O. Box 1099 • Walhalla, SC 29691 • (864)-614-2655 • Fax (864) 638-4357 • www.CityofWalhalla.com 

 
 
June 11, 2024 
 
May 2024  Monthly Report  
     1.   Permit administration (see totals below)  
     2.   Fielded additional calls/emails/walk-ins regarding façade and sign grants,  
           building permits, signs, new business process, special events, land use  
           allowances, food trucks, code violations, business licenses, Downtown  
           Design Guidelines and variances.  
      3.  Applications/Violations Processed, May 2024 Request Monthly Totals  
            Zoning Permits   10  
            Building Permits   8 
            Violations (IPMC, Sign, Zoning, etc.)   5 
            Variances   0 
            Subdivision Permits (Preliminary/Final)   1 
            Special Exceptions    0 
            Sign Permits   1 
            Rezoning Requests   0 
            Land Disturbance Permits   0 
            Food Truck Permits   0 
            Fence Permits   2 
            Demolition Permits   0 
            Appeals   0 
   Abandon Title to Mobile Home:  1 
 
Submitted by Planning and Zoning Administrator Mark Bloomer 



Walhalla Police Department                    
101 E. Main St. 

Walhalla, SC 29691 

Chief of Police Timothy J. Rice 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Monthly Police Report- May 2024 

 

   

May Events and Completed Training: Employees  
 
 
 

TOTAL CALLS FOR SERVICE 995 

TRAINING HOURS  205 HOURS (103 K9) 

Total Arrests 26 (Adult) 0 (Juvenile) 

Extra Patrol / Business Checks 388 

 

BREAKDOWN OF OVERTIME BY TYPE: 

Shift Coverage  41.5 

Court 12 

Special Event Coverage 37 

TOTAL OVERTIME   90.5 HOURS (previous month –31 hours) 

       

Upcoming Events and Training and News: 

Sgt Mealy attended Mid Level Management training at SCCJA. 

Race to Valhalla  

Memorial 5k Race 

Department cookout for National Police Week (Police week May 12th-18th) 

New Hire Trevor Lusk.  

 

 



Walhalla Police Department                    
101 E. Main St. 

Walhalla, SC 29691 

Chief of Police Timothy J. Rice 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Monthly Reference Material 

May 2024 – Month End Stats 
 

Total Calls for Service:    995 

Total Traffic Stops:              246   

Total Traffic Collisions:    13 

 

Reports Filed:   

Collision Reports:     8  

Pursuit After-Action:      0     

Incident Reports:     65   

Response to Resistance:    1 

    TOTAL:   84 
 
Citations/Warnings Issued:  
Warnings:      135 

Traffic Related:     105   

Non-Traffic Related:     25 

TOTAL:                 265 
    
Arrests:     

Adults:       26 

Juvenile Referrals:     0 

TOTAL:   26 
 

Extra Patrols:    TOTAL:    388 
 



WALHALLA SOLID WASTE 6-4-2024  
The Solid Waste Department  

May 1 thru 31, 2024 the City of Walhalla picked up:   

 273-ton of residential garbage  

 134-ton of commercial garbage 

   22-loads of recyclable brush 

     3-ton yard waste 

   15-ton C&D Waste 

                    

 

Roll Carts for May 

Delivered 21 

Picked up 7 

Repair/Replace 9    

 

During the month of May our department continued picking up brush, leaves, 
trash, C&D waste, tires, and mattresses.  We are having a problem with one of the 
hydraulic pumps on our 2018 Peterbuilt side load trash truck. We have taken it for 
repairs and hope to have it back by the first week of June. 

 

Thanks,  

Russ Price 



Facilities and Streets 
Department Head: John Galbreath  

 
Earle House 

   
 

  . 
 
Old St. Johns Meeting House 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 



Tree on Road 

   
 
Pool 

  
 
Splash Pad 

   
 
 
 



4 Inch Pool Line Busted  

 
 
Pool Chlorine Pump  

  
 
Tree on Bobo Link 

  



City of Walhalla Fire Department 
Home of the Mountaineer Engine Co. Est. 1871 

 

 

207 E North Broad Street, Walhalla SC 29691 
864-638-4345 Phone 
864-638-2444 Fax 

Fire Chiefs Monthly Report 
May 2024 

 

FIRE-EMS 

Incident Response-  

We responded to 158 calls for service. 72 were fire calls and 86 were medical/rescue calls.  During the month we 
were on multiple calls 25% of the time.  We provided 13 instances of mutual aid.  79 calls were inside the City 
and 79 calls were either in the unincorporated area or another district.  The average on-scene time was 32 
minutes.  Both career and volunteer staff spent 253 hours on incidents.   

Incident Type # Incidents % of Total  
Fires 5 3.16% 
Overpressure rupture, explosion- no fire 0 0.00% 
Rescue & EMS 86 54.43% 
Hazardous Conditions 13 8.23% 
Service Call 27 17.09% 
 Good Intent Call  12 7.59% 
False Alarm and False Call 15 9.49% 
Severe Weather & Natural Disaster 0 0.00% 
Special Incident  0 0.00% 

Total  158 100.00% 
 

Operations/Training-  

Staff, both career and volunteer, trained for a total of 533 hours during the month.  

The department has 1 full-time firefighter opening. This position is posted on the City webpage and the 
department’s Facebook page.  

 

 

 

 



City of Walhalla Fire Department 
Home of the Mountaineer Engine Co. Est. 1871 

 

 

207 E North Broad Street, Walhalla SC 29691 
864-638-4345 Phone 
864-638-2444 Fax 

COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION 

Fire Marshal-    

Continuing to complete pre-fire plans and business inspections. Completing re-inspections as needed.  

Fire Prevention/Life Safety-        

  

 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

Staff have responded to 2 reported structure fires this month. If you have a fire or emergency in a structure 
remember to evacuate all persons inside first, then call 911.  

GRANTS 

We have applied for 35 grants with possible funding totaling in $400,000 or more. This is as of the end of the 
month. We plan on applying for several more grants.  

Grants we have received: 

• Harbor Freight - $500 
• VSAFE - $13,280 

 

19

0

15

1
0 0

2

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

Business
Inspections

Special
Event

Inspections

Pre-Plans Rental
Inspections

Car Seat
Installs

Carbon
Monoxide

Alarms

Smoke
Alarm
Installs

Risk Reduction Activity Count 



City of Walhalla Fire Department 
Home of the Mountaineer Engine Co. Est. 1871 

 

 

207 E North Broad Street, Walhalla SC 29691 
864-638-4345 Phone 
864-638-2444 Fax 

Please contact me should you have any questions. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Will Bates  
Will Bates, Fire Chief  



June Monthly Report- Walhalla Rec 

- All-Star Softball Played June 6th-10. Update on 10u and 12u. Both teams played really well. 12u 
fell short in both games they played, 10u girls won 1 game but lost to go to the finals. These girls 
played really well and gave it their all! 

- Fall Sports Sign-Ups start June 10-28th on rec desk!  
- We have had a couple of businesses donate to the rec department on behalf of our upcoming 

sports. We will send them a thank you card as well as supplying them a banner for our 
appreciation. 

- Sertoma Field is being kept up and fixing some small issues along the walking track, playgrounds, 
and ball fields. 

- Once All Stars are over, the softball field and the big field will be adding new dirt and extending 
the infield on the softball field for 12u Fall Ball. That has been one of our most requested 
projects from the community and we are excited to be able to get it done this year.  

- Memorial Field will be closing soon for renovating the grass field for the upcoming football 
season. 

- We are looking at a plan to have open gym at the city gym once or twice a week for the kids in 
the city to have extra leisure activity 

- Walhalla Rec McDonalds night will be August 8th at McDonalds!  

 



 
 

   
 

Utilities Department  

• Highway 11 water line connection at Itron completed on Tuesday, the 11th.  

• The first section of sidewalk repairs were poured on Tuesday the 11th. 

 

  



 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 
COUNTY OF OCONEE  )            ORDINANCE 2024-11 
 
CITY OF WALHALLA  ) 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO RAISE REVENUE AND ADOPT A BUDGET FOR GENERAL, WATER, SEWER 
AND HOSPITALITY FUNDS, HEREIN KNOWN AS THE “CITY OF WALHALLA: BUDGET FOR FISCAL 

YEAR JULY 1, 2024 – JUNE 30, 2025”, AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §5-9-40 the City Council shall adopt an annual budget 
for the operation of the City and capital improvements for Fiscal Year July 1, 2024 – June 30, 
2025; and,  

WHEREAS, Council has carefully studied and examined the financial needs for operations for 
the coming fiscal year after discussions with the City department heads and the City 
Administrator; and,  

WHEREAS, having considered the budget requests for the coming fiscal year and having 
determined that it is in the best interests of the taxpayers of the City to adopt a 
comprehensive budget; and,  

WHEREAS, the annual budget shall be based upon estimated revenues and shall provide 
appropriations for City operations and debt service for all departments; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §6-1-80 the City has provided notice to the public by 
advertising the public hearing before the adoption of the budget for the next fiscal year in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the area, given not less than fifteen days in advance of the 
public hearing in the form as prescribed by law; and,  

WHEREAS, after a public hearing and receiving public comment the City Council finds that the 
attached FY July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2025 budget should be adopted; 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the governing body of the City of Walhalla in Council duly assembled, as 
follows:  

 

 



 

ARTICLE I – Adoption of Budget 

SECTION 1. That the budget document entitled: “City of Walhalla: Budget for Fiscal Year July 1, 
2024 – June 30, 2025” is hereby adopted and incorporated herein by reference, Exhibit A; 

1.1. The prepared general fund budget and the estimated revenue for the payment 
of same are hereby adopted and is made part hereof as fully as if incorporated herein and a 
copy thereof is hereto attached and also be known as the current approved fiscal year budget 
document;  

1.2. The millage rate for FY 2024-2025 includes a 6% increase from FY 2023-2024 to 
eighty-nine (89) mills on assessed value of all real estate and personal property owned and 
used in the City of Walhalla, except that which is exempt pursuant to South Carolina law, is 
levied and shall be paid to the City Treasury improvements, and current expenses of the City; 

1.3. The Oconee County Auditor’s Office shall levy an ad valorem tax on all taxable 
property owned and used in the City of Walhalla, South Carolina, except such as may be 
exempt from taxation under the Constitution and laws of the state of South Carolina. The tax 
shall be collected and paid into the treasury of Oconee County for credit to the City of 
Walhalla;  

1.4. That the prepared water and sewer budget and the estimated revenue for the 
payment of same, are hereby adopted and is made part hereof as fully as if incorporated 
herein and a copy thereof is hereto attached and also known as the current approved fiscal 
year budget document;  

1.5. All enterprise funds will be self-supporting. The City will establish all user 
charges fees at a level related to the full costs (operating, direct, indirect and capital) of 
providing the service. The City will review these fees and charges annually in the budget 
process and target rates that meet the cost to provide the service;  

1.6. City of Walhalla will collect and remit fees set by Oconee Joint Regional Sewer;  

1.7. That a 2% hospitality tax will be collected for the period of July 1, 2024, 
through June 30, 2025 and will be used for the sole purpose of promoting tourism and/or 
tourism related activities;  

1.8. Funds appropriated herein are to be expended only in compliance with policies 
adopted by City Council or, at City Council's direction, as formulated and implemented by the 
City Administrator, either existing or adopted;  

1.9. City Council reserves the right to amend any appropriation contained herein;  

1.10. Appropriations for capital expenditure or bond issuance costs or for the 
payment of annual installments of capitalized interest according to a predetermined schedule 
are made in related Bond Ordinances. Nothing in this ordinance shall modify or amend the 
terms of any Bond Ordinance; 



 

1.11. Funds sufficient to cover all fiscal year ending June 30, 2025 budget items 
encumbered but unpaid at the close of fiscal year ending June 30, 2025 shall be carried 
forward from the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026 budget to the succeeding budget to meet 
such lawful obligations of the City of Walhalla;  

1.12. The City Administrator will monitor the financial condition of the city and 
estimate present and future financial needs; 

1.13. Department heads will be accountable for the implementing department 
budgets in a manner that accomplishes the programs and objectives for which the budgets 
were authorized and ensuring that their respective budgets stay within the prescribed funding 
levels.; 

1.14. Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of 
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified 
purposes other than debt service or capital projects. Expenditures in these funds are strictly 
limited to the mandates of the funding source. Special Revenue Funds are not to be used to 
subsidize other funds, except as required or permitted by program regulations;  

1.15. The City will prepare and maintain a Capital Improvement Program and 
designate said funds for the implementation of capital projects. Capital assets shall be 
purchased and maintained on a regular schedule. An amount determined annually by council 
shall be deposited into the Capital Improvement Fund from general appropriations.  

 
Section 2. Authorization.  

2.1. The City Administrator, and the City Clerk/Finance Director, for and on behalf 
of the City, acting jointly or individually, are fully empowered and authorized to take such 
further action as may be reasonably necessary to effect the changes authorized by this 
Ordinance in accordance with the conditions herein set forth.  

 
Section 3. Severability.  

3.1. The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable and if 
any section, phrase or provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the 
remainder of the sections, phrases and provisions hereunder.  

3.2. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinance. All ordinances, orders, resolutions and parts 
thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed and this 
Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its passage and approval.  

 

 



 

3.3. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance is, for 
any reason, held to be unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance.  

3.4. This ordinance and the rules, regulations, provisions, requirements, orders and 
matters established and adopted hereby shall take effect and be in full force and effect from 
and after the date of its final passage and adoption as set forth here.  

 

DONE AND RATIFIED in Council Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 2024. 

 
 
 
____________________________ 
Tim Hall, Mayor 

 
 
 
(seal) 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 
 
 
Introduced By: Mr. Keith Pace 
 
 
First Reading:  May 14, 2024 
 
Public Hearing, 
Second Reading 
And Adoption:  ______________________________ 



Changes to the proposed budget from the Joint Committee meeting 

 

1. PRT Committee recommended a Supplemental Budget with prioritized projects for 
the remaining Stumphouse Mountain Park appropriation. 

2. Utilities Committee recommended the Billing personnel remain at 3 full-time staff. 
In order to do so, $4,000 was reduced from the hydrant maintenance line item in 
Water Crew’s Operating Budget and $20,000 was reduced from the Sewer’s Capital 
Budget for a side-by-side for sewer rights-of-way. 

3. As we expect expenditures from the SCIIP grant this fiscal year, a budget has been 
included under Other/Special Revenue Fund. These funds are restricted to the 
projects approved in the grant award, including Rocky Knoll pump station 
replacement, Cane Creek sewer line upgrades, West Main St water line upgrades. 
Allocated reserves are available for upcoming match requirements. 

 

Changes to the proposed budget from the previous Council meeting and 
recommended by the Finance Committee. 

1. Add a graduated longevity raise for employees who have been with the City a 
minimum of 5 years (1-5%). 

2. Additional funding to Sanitation for Equipment Maintenance and Materials & 
Supplies for roll carts, dumpsters and hydraulic fluid/oil. 

3. Reclassify Billing Clerk to an Accounting Clerk with Administration/Finance with the 
responsibility of business licensing, HTAX, ATAX, permit payments, (accounts 
receivable), payroll and other financial roles. 

4. Addition of a part-time Billing Clerk. (Utility Committee later recommended 
remaining a full-time position – stated above.) 

5. Reallocate $12,000 of HTAX from Main Walhalla SC to General Fund to assist with 
events and PRT. 

6. Increase Administration Dues and Licenses for Chamber of Commerce 
membership and Main Street SC at the Friends level. 



CITY OF WALHALLA
ANNUAL BUDGET

864-638-4343 www.cityofwalhalla.com

FY 24-25

Many Parts,
One City



Page Left Blank Intentionally 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED BUDGET 
Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

INTRODUCTION 

City Council…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….…………5                                                                                     
City Organizational Chart …………………………………………………………………………………….…………….………..6 
City Management ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….…..7 
City Accomplishments ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….…….7 
City Goals and Priorities ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..8 
Inclusions in this Budget ……………………………………………………………………………………………………..……...8 
Budget Message …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..….10 
Budget Overview ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..………12 
Department Staffing ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...13 
 

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE POLICY AND PROCESS 

Government Funds …………………………………………………………………………………………………………..………15 
Proprietary Funds ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..........16 
Financial Polices and Goals …………………………………………………………………………………………………………17 
Budget Process and Calendar ……………………………………………………………………………………………………..17 
Amendments & Legal Level of Budgetary Control …………………………………………………………………………18 
Fund Equity …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….18 
Financial Summaries ……………………………………………………………………………………………………….………..19 
Budget Revenues …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….19 
Budget Expenditures ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..24 
Capital and Debt …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……….24 
Debt Management …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….…….25 
2018 Series Water and Sewer System Revenue Bond ……………………………………………………………………..25 
Lease Purchases …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..….26 

 

GENERAL FUND 

Administration (510) …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………28 
Police (520) ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……...30 
Sanitation (530) ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..………..32 
Streets & Facilities (531) ………………………………………………………………………………………………..……….….34 
Fire (540) …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……………36 
Parks, Recreation & Tourism (550) ………………………………………………………………………………..………….….38 
Court (558) ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..…………….…40 
Pool (551) …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……………….…42 
Depot (555) ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……………….…43 
Stumphouse Tunnel (556) ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….44 

 



3 

OTHER FUNDS 

Community Center …………………………………………………………………….…………………………………………….47 
C-Fund ……………………………………………………………………………………….………………………………………….48 
Capital Improvement Fund ……………………………………………………………….……………………………………….49 
Retiree Healthcare Fund ……………………………………………………………………….………….………………………..50 
American Rescue Plan (ARPA) ………………………………………………………………………………………………..51 
SCIIP Grant, Water & Sewer Projects …………………………………………………………..……………………………….52 
Contingency ……………………………………………………………………………………………….…………………………..53 
Depreciation ………………………………………………………………………………………………….………………………..53 
Hospitality (HTAX) Fund (029) ……………………………………………………………………………….……………………54 
Supplemental Budget – Stumphouse Mountain Park …………………………………………………….……………….55

ENTERPRISE FUND 

Water Crew (560) ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….57 
Water Plant (561) ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….59 
Water Billing (563) ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..61 
Sewer (565) …………………………………………………………………………….……………………………………………….63 

APPENDICES 

Fee Schedule …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………64 
Notes to Fee Schedule ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………69 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit 1: Overview Budget Revenues .………………………………………………………………………………………19 
Exhibit 2: Detailed Budget Revenues for FY24-25 ……………………………………………………………………….20 
Exhibit 3: Budgeted Revenues, All Sources …………………………………………………………………………………22 
Exhibit 4: General Fund Revenues, By Type ………………………………………………………………………………...22 
Exhibit 5: Enterprise Fund Revenues, By Type ………………………………………………………………………………23 
Exhibit 6: Special Revenues Fund, By Type ………………………………………………………………………………….23 
Exhibit 7: Budgeted Expenses, By Type ………………………………………………………………………………………24 
Exhibit 8: 2018 Series Bond Debt ……………………………………………………………………………………………….24 
Exhibit 9: Current Lease Purchases, 2024 …………………………………………………………………………………….26 



4 

INTRODUCTION 

Rest of Page Left Blank Intentionally 



5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Walhalla City Council 

 
    
   
     
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photo Credits: Facebook (Tim Hall, Sarai Melendez), Upstate Journal (Keith Pace, Grant Keehn), SDOC (Josh 
Holliday), Thomas and Crain (Josh Thomas), City of Walhalla (Kenny Johns) 

Sarai Melendez 

Keith Pace, Mayor Pro-Temp0re Josh Holliday Kenny Johns 

Grant Keehn Josh Thomas 

Tim Hall, Mayor 



6 
 

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Ci
tiz

en
s

City Council

City Administrator

Planning & Community 
Development

Police Park Ranger

Public Works

Sanitation

Streets & Facilities 

Fire 

Fire Marshal

Operations

Parks, Recreation & 
Tourism Recreation 

Court

Utilities

Water Crew

Water Billing

Water Plant

Sewer

Finance Director/
City Clerk

Municipal Judge

City Attorney



7 
 

CITY MANAGEMENT 
 

Celia Boyd Myers…………………………………………………………………………………… City Administrator 
Ashley Jones ………………………………………………………………………………………… Finance Director/City Clerk 
Kaylee Osbon ……………………………………………………………………………………….. Assistant to the City Administrator 
Tim Rice ………………………………………………………………………………………………. Police Chief 
Will Bates …………………………………………………………………………………………….. Fire Chief 
Terry Sanford ……………………………………………………………………………………….. Fire Marshal 
Russ Price …………………………………………………………………………………………….. Sanitation Director 
John Galbreath………………………………………………………………………………………. Streets & Facilities Director 
Vacant …………………………………………………………………………………………………. PRT Director 
Breanna Richardson ……………………………………………………………………………….. Recreation Director 
Scott Parris …………………………………………………………………………………………… Utilities Director 
Tim Borrow …………………………………………………………………………………………… Water Plant Supervisor 
Roberta Barton ……………………………………………………………………………………… Municipal Judge 
Stephanie Lovell ……………………………………………………………………………………. Clerk of Court 
Michael Kozlarek …………………………………………………………………………………… City Attorney 

 

CITY ACCOMPLISHMENTS, FY23-24 
 

Fiscal year 23-24 saw changes in leadership (Mayor, City Council and Administration), reorganization and 
expansion of departments and the completion of several on-going projects. Several accomplishments include: 

1. Clean Audit  
2. Established City Mission, Vision and Values 
3. Adopted a Strategic Communications Plan 
4. Reorganization of the Public Works Division, separating Sanitation and Streets & Facilities to provide 

focus attention and improve service  
5. Reorganization and expansion of the Recreation Department to Parks, Recreation & Tourism 
6. Finishing the Hwy 11 water line extension and upgrades 
7. Completion of the Wanderweg Greenway  
8. Completion of the Ross Mountain parking lot, restrooms and Phase 3 of trails 
9. Grand Reopening of Chicopee Field 
10. Conversion of S Catherine Street to a one-way street 
11. Began building permitting system  
12. Purchasing property for the new Community Center, off Highway 28 
13. Began offering Stumphouse Mountain Park passes (day and annual) online 
14. Established a Park Ranger at the Stumphouse Mountain Park 
15. Transitioned to RecDesk to offer online youth sport registration 
16. Began two (2) new youth sports: volleyball and flag football 
17. Continued the Comprehensive Planning Process, holding four (4) open houses, six (6) focus groups, 

pop-up events at IndependenceFest and Oktoberfest and a Community Needs Assessment survey 
18. Converting financial and billing software to Springbrook Cirrus 
19. Transitioned to VOIP phone system 
20. Establishment of a Capital Improvement and Capital Maintenance Plans for the next five (5) years 



8 
 

CITY GOALS AND PRIORITIES, FY 24-25 

 
Clear strategic priorities are the foundation on which our budget is built. City Council’s February Retreat is 
the main source of which these are derived.  
 

Goals set by City Council at the February Council Retreat 

1. Balanced and Realistic Budget 
2. Competitive Pay 
3. Complete Infrastructure Projects 
4. Increase PRT Revenue 
5. Complete Comprehensive Plan 

 

Additional Budget Priorities  

1. Community Safety  
2. Infrastructure and Capital Investments  
3. Economic and Community Vibrancy 
4. Efficient and High-Quality Service 
5. Community Partnerships and Collaboration 

 

INCLUSIONS IN THIS BUDGET 

 
Balanced and Realistic Budget 

1. Restricted funds have been separated and placed in a Special Revenue/Other Funds. 
2. Projected revenues are based on past trends and current available data. 
3. The transfer from the Enterprise Fund to General Fund has decreased by $50,000. 
4. Expenses are allocated within the appropriate department and known expenses are reflected. 

 
Working Towards Competitive Pay 

1. A 3% across the board increase for all employees. 
2. Employees who have been with the City for a minimum of 5 years will receive a graduated longevity (1-5%). 
3. Employees earning significantly less than the statewide average will receive an adjustment of half the difference. 
4. The Administration Department will undertake an internal wage and compensation review. Depending 

on the results, further adjustments may be recommended. 

 
Complete Infrastructure Projects 

1. Sidewalk and paving projects funded by C-Funds. 
2. Maintain or upgrade water meters 
3. Maintain or replace fire hydrants. 
4. Increased funding for water system and water plant maintenance. 
5. Water line, pump station and sewer line upgrades funded in part by SCIIP Grant. 



9 
 

Increase PRT Revenue 

1. Addition of a PRT Director to focus on park management and tourism efforts. 
2. Build new Community Center with SC PRT appropriation to aid with tournaments and other opportunities. 
3. Higher goals for Youth Recreation sponsorships. 
4. Supplemental budget for Stumphouse Mountain Park investments (from state appropriation). 
5. Increase goals for recreation and park revenues to fund the PRT budget. 

 
Complete Comprehensive Plan 

1. While the FY25 budget does not include funding for Planning personnel, the Comprehensive Plan will 
be completed by the Administration staff, with possible assistance from the Appalachian Council of 
Governments (ACOG). 

 
Community Safety  

1. Additional funding to Police and Fire Departments. 
2. Resources dedicated to street and sidewalk maintenance. 

 
Infrastructure and Capital Investments  

1. Infrastructure investments listed above. 
2. Fleet management program to upgrade vehicles on a regular schedule and maintenance program. 
3. Funding for equipment, including tractor, mowers, hydro-excavator, fire engine, etc. 

 
Economic and Community Vibrancy 

1. Continues festivals and other City-sponsored events through the Administration Department and 
future PRT Director. 

2. Includes funding to be an investor with the Oconee Chamber of Commerce, Oconee Economic Alliance 
and Main Street SC at the Friends level. 

3. The Administration Department will develop an Economic Action Plan and provide recommendations 
to Council. 

 
Efficient and High-Quality Service 

1. Conversion of current financial/billing software for user friendliness and more customer interaction. 
2. Additional 3-person crew to improve water system maintenance. 
3. Addition of an Accounting Clerk to become point of contact for business license, HTAX, ATAX, etc. 
4. Reorganization to provide adequate staffing to focus on specific functions, such as ground maintenance. 

 

Community Partnerships and Collaboration 

1. Partner with the Oconee Chamber of Commerce, Oconee Economic Alliance, Main Street SC, Visit 
Oconee, Partners for Progress, Rotary of Walhalla and other agencies and civic organizations to  

  



10 
 

 

BUDGET MESSAGE 

 

Honorable Mayor and Members of Council, 

 

Please find within my recommendations for the City of Walhalla’s FY24-25 municipal budget, including the 
General Fund, Enterprise Fund and Special Revenue Fund. I wish to thank each of you for your support 
during this process. Your guidance and stated priorities have served as the foundation of this budget. 
Additionally, I must thank my team for their support and on-going engagement. Without their hard work 
and willingness to work together, this budget would have proved much more challenging. 

The budget is City Council’s financial plan for the upcoming year. The presented budget is balanced and 
incorporates the goals and priorities discussed during the annual retreat and budget meetings. It is the 
basis through which City staff will provide the projects and services established by City Council over the 
coming year. 

This year’s focus is “Back to Basics”, prioritizing police and fire services, financial stewardship, investing in 
the City’s infrastructure and improving services, while continuing to offer a high quality of life, fulfilling our 
vision and honoring our newly established values.  

We recognize that our employees are our greatest assets. The City’s operating budget includes a 3% raise 
for all employees; a graduated longevity raise (1-5%) for all employees who have been with the City at least 
five (5) years; and an adjustment for employees whose pay is significantly less that the statewide average. A 
5% longevity raise for employees celebrating a 5-year milestone will be established and incorporated in 
future budgets. Additionally, the Administration Department will perform an in-house wage and 
compensation study this year and present those findings and recommendations to Council.  

This budget does include a 6% millage increase, raising from 84 mils to 89 mils. This is the first millage 
increase in over 20 years. The full projected increase in taxes is dedicated to the police and fire budgets. 
There is also a $3 base rate increase for water users. This increase is dedicated to the establishment of a 
new 3-person water crew, as proposed for the last few years. This crew will improve customer service, 
provide quicker response to water line maintenance and assist in water meter maintenance. Finally, there is 
the addition of a sewer base rate this year - $5 for City users and $10 for Out-of-City users. One of the 
directives from Council was to have the sewer fund break even. This increase allows the City to invest in the 
sewer system, performing maintenance work and is projected to fully cover the expected expenses.   

City departments that generate revenue have been challenged to become self-sufficient within three years 
and each have increased their coverage in this budget. The FY24-25 General Fund Budget reduces its 
reliance on the Enterprise Fund, lessening the interfund transfer from the prior budget year and putting 
expenses in the appropriate department. The City is making strides to is well positioned to continue to over 
the coming years. 

In addition to the General and Enterprise Funds, I propose a separated Special Revenue Fund that details 
restricted funding, including the Community Center appropriation, HTAX, C-Fund appropriation and SCIIP 
grant. By separating these funds, we have a more accurate view of General Fund revenues versus those that 
are restricted to certain uses.  

 



11 
 

This budget also includes the participation in a fleet management system, ensuring City vehicles are rotated 
on a regular schedule and reducing maintenance and repair expenses. Being able to stabilize these 
expenses over time will also provide ease to future budget planning. 

This budget does use the sale of capital assets and the remaining ARPA funds to fund all projects and 
operating costs. It is recognized that this is not a sustainable method and that recurring revenues should 
fund recurring expenses. Careful oversight must be used to ensure departments stay within the approved 
budget, while continuing to seek ways to increase revenues, such as tourism and grants. 

In closing, I would like to express my appreciation to the City Council for their work in planning for the 
future of Walhalla and to City staff for their dedication to providing efficient and cost–effective services to 
the citizens of our community. I am confident that Council and staff will be able to meet the challenges that 
will face us in the coming years. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Celia Myers, AICP 
City Administrator 

 

 

 

  



12 
 

FY 2024-2025 OVERVIEW 

 

REVENUES 

General Fund $5,902,900 
Enterprise Fund $5,576,450 
Special Revenue Fund $15,710,000 
   Hospitality Fund $310,000 
   Community Center $5,000,000 
   C-Funds $400,000 
   SCIIP Water and Sewer Project $10,000,000 
Total Revenues $27,189,350 

 

EXPENDITURES 

General Fund $5,902,900 
   Administration $544,275 
   Police $1,626,625 
   Sanitation $755,900 
   Streets and Facilities $731,500 
   Fire $1,250,800 
   Parks, Recreation and Tourism $580,350 
   Court $93,000 
   Depot $18,000 
   Pool $14,500 
   Stumphouse Mountain Park $117,950 
   Retiree Healthcare $20,000 
   Capital Improvement $150,000 
  
Enterprise Fund $5,576,450 
   Water Crew $2,744,250 
   Water Billing $340,000 
   Water Plant $2,286,950 
   Sewer $205,250 
  
Special Revenue Fund $15,710,000 
   Community Center $5,000,000 
   C-Funds $400,000 
   Hospitality $310,000 
   SCIIP Water and Sewer Project $10,000,000 
Total Expenditures $27,189,350 

 

 

 

 



13 
 

Departmental Staffing 

Department FY 21 FY 22 FY 23 FY 24 FY 25 Requested 

Administration 3 2 2 4 4 

Planning & Economic Dev 0 2 2 2 0 

Police 13 14 17 17 16 

Sanitation 13 14 13 13 7 

Streets & Facilities 0 0 0 0 8 

Fire 8 8 11 11 11 

Parks, Recreation & Tourism 3 4 4 4 4 

Stumphouse Mountain Park 0 0 0 0 1 

Court 1 1 1 1 1 

Water Crew 10 12 13 12 15 

Water Billing 3 3 3 4 3 

Water Plant 4 4 4 5 5 

Sewer 1 1 1 1 1 

Total FTE 59 65 71 74 76 

 

Department FY 21 FY 22 FY 23 FY 24 FY 25 Requested 

Administration 0 0 0 0 1 

Planning & Economic Dev 0 0 0 0 0 

Police 0 0 0 0 0 

Sanitation 2 2 0 0 0 

Streets & Facilities 0 0 0 0 0 

Fire 7 7 0 0 1 

Parks, Recreation & Tourism 0 0 0 3 3 

Stumphouse Mountain Park 1 1 1 1 0 

Court 0 1 1 1 2 

Water Crew 0 0 0 0 0 

Water Billing 0 0 0 0 0 

Water Plant 3 3 3 3 3 

Sewer 0 0 0 0 0 

Total PT 13 14 5 8 10 



14 
 

 

Financial Structure, 
Policy and Process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rest of Page Left Blank Intentionally 

 

 

  



15 
 

Financial Structure, Policy and Process 

The City’s budgetary fund structure is as follows: 

 

Governmental Funds 

The City uses governmental funds to account for those functions reported as governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic services are accounted for in governmental 
funds. The focus of these funds is on how assets can readily be converted into cash flow (in and out), and what 
monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next year. The governmental funds report 
using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., when they are "measurable and 
available"). "Measurable" means the amount of the transaction can be determined; and "available" means 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for interest on general long-term 
debt which is recognized when due. 

Property taxes, franchise fees, inter-governmental revenues, HTAX, ATAX, business licenses, grants, and other 
miscellaneous fees are susceptible to accrual. Property taxes and franchise fees are recognized as revenue in 
the fiscal year for which they are levied. Intergovernmental sources are recognized as revenue when the 
underlying eligibility requirements are met, and the resources become available. Expenditure-driven grants 
are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other eligibility 
requirements have been met. Other sources become measurable and available when cash is received by the 
City and are recognized as revenue at that time. 

Budgeted governmental funds in the FY 24-25 budget include the following types: 

The general fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. This fund is always a major fund. 

The special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 
restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects. 

The debt service funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or 
assigned to expenditure for principal and interest.  

The capital projects funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of capital 
facilities and other capital assets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



16 
 
Proprietary Funds 

Proprietary funds are accounted for on the flow of economic resources measurement focus and use the accrual 
basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the 
time the liabilities are incurred. Billed but uncollected water charges are accrued as receivables at year-end and 
are reported as revenues of the Enterprise Funds. These funds account for activities of the City similar to those 
found in the private sector, where cost recovery and the determination of net income is useful or necessary for 
sound fiscal management. The budget for enterprise funds are prepared on the accrual basis, except that 
depreciation and amortization is not budgeted. 

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to 
private business enterprises – where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including 
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic 
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital 
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. The City uses an 
enterprise fund to account for its water and sewer operations. 

The graphic overview of the City’s budgetary fund structure for the appropriated funds is presented below. 

 

 

 

The budget is prepared by fund, function and department. Debt service funds are strictly allocated for 
repayment of principal and interest on debt.  

 

  

Government
al Funds

General
A Major Fund

Special 
Revenue Fund
Nonmajor Fund

Proprietary 
Funds

Water
A Major Fund

Sewer
A Major Fund

Debt Service 
Funds

Nonmajor Funds



17 
 
Financial Polices and Goals 

The annual operating budget is the vehicle through which City Council authorizes City government to fund 
operations during a specific fiscal year, for specific purposes; and which establishes the economic resources 
that are required to support these activities. The budget is a fiscal, planning and policy document, reflecting 
the allocation of limited revenues among diverse needs. 

 
Eight financial policies and goals form the basis for the budgeting accounting, and financial reporting in City of 
Walhalla: 

1. Debt Service for long-term obligations should not exceed 10-15% of the General Fund budget.  
2. Maintain a balanced budget for the general fund, which is when the sum of estimated net revenues 

and appropriated fund balances is equal to appropriations. 
3. Department heads are accountable for the implementation of the departmental budget, so that the 

programs and objectives for which the budgets were authorized are accomplished, while ensuring 
budget expenditures stay within the prescribed appropriations. 

4. The Capital Maintenance and Improvement Plan, which includes anticipated capital projects and 
related debt service and operating costs, should be updated annually. 

5. The City will develop and implement a program to integrate performance measures and productivity 
indicators within the annual budget. 

6. The City will maintain a safety and risk management program to protect employees and minimize 
financial exposure to the City. 

7. Th City shall adopt a policy of inventorying and assessing the condition of all major assets on an annual 
basis. 

8. The Administrator may approve changes in a department budget from one line item to another in an 
amount up to and including $10,000 at any one time; provided that the total department budget shall not 
increase, no new positions may be created, or capital expenses may be accomplished by such transfer 
without City Council approval. No transfer for any one type of good or service may be subdivided, split or 
stacked for purposes of evading this requirement. Aggregate transfers within the fiscal year within a 
department which exceed $25,000 shall require City Council approval thereafter. All transfers shall be 
included in the “Administrator’s Report” on City Council agendas for the Council’s review. 

 

Budget Process and Calendar 

The Administrator is to submit to City Council a statement describing the important features of the 
proposed budgets including all sources of anticipated revenue of the City and the tax revenue required to 
meet the financial requirements of the County. State law also dictates that before adoption of the budget, 
a public hearing must be held. The statute also prescribes that by July 1 of each year a balanced budget 
must be adopted for the upcoming fiscal year.  

The City Administrator will distribute the budget packets to every department by February that includes a 
request for their operating budget and any new capital and personnel requested. All department heads are 
required to submit requests for appropriation to the City Administrator by the end of March. The 
Administrator uses these requests as the starting point for developing a proposed budget. Workshops are 
scheduled by the Finance Committee and City Council members to discuss the budget. At these meetings, 
questions may be asked of the department heads and in some instances, called upon to justify the amount 
requested. Council is required to hold a public hearing on the proposed budget and to adopt a final budget 
establishing the spending authority for the fiscal year and instructing the County Auditor the total millage 



18 
 

to be levied. Due to local ordinance, adoption of the budget ordinance requires two readings of the budget 
annually. After adoption, the budget is prepared and distributed in written form. 

 

Amendments & Legal Level of Budgetary Control 

Amending the operating and capital budget after final adoption would require two readings of a 
supplemental budget ordinance. Transfers from one line item to another within the budget can be 
accomplished as follows: 

“The Administrator may approve changes in a department budget from one line item to another in an 
amount up to and including $10,000 at any one time; provided, however, the total department budget 
shall not increase, no new positions may be created, or capital expenses, may be accomplished by such a 
transfer without City Council approval. No transfer for any one type of good or service may be subdivided, 
split or stacked for purposes of evading this requirement. Aggregate transfers within the fiscal year within 
a department which exceed $25,000 shall require City Council approval thereafter. All transfers shall be 
included in the “Administrator’s Report” section on City Council agenda for Council’s review.” 

Changes to budgetary line items may be initiated by the affected department head or by the Finance 
Director/City Clerk or Administrator when the need becomes apparent. Details describing the amount and 
nature of the transfer are entered on a prescribed budget transfer form. After the department head signs 
the budget transfer form, it is then submitted to the Finance Director/City Clerk who reviews it for 
appropriateness and completeness. It is then forwarded to the City Administrator or the Finance 
Committee and City Council, as appropriate, for approval. Once the approved transfer form is received, it is 
entered into the general ledger as a budget transfer to the effected accounts to complete the process. 

The budget process is designed to ensure that taxpayer dollars are efficiently and effectively utilized to 
fairly deliver essential governmental services. Through the budget, the City of Walhalla fulfills its vision to 
foster a vibrant, safe, affordable and loving community that offers a high quality of life for all. 

 

Fund Equity 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balances as follows: 

Nonspendable – Amounts that are reported that inherently cannot be spent, such as resources that must 
be maintained intact based on legal or contractual requirement. 

Restricted – Amounts that are limited in how they can be spent due to externally enforceable legal 
restrictions. They can be restricted by other governments through laws and regulations, grantors or 
contributors through agreements, creditors through debt covenants or other contracts, or enabling 
legislation that limits how a revenue can be used (i.e., hospitality tax for tourism related expenditures). 

Committed – Amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a formal action of 
the government’s highest level of decision-making authority, which in the case of the City of Walhalla 
would be an ordinance of City Council, prior to year-end. 

Assigned – Amounts that are constrained, but not externally or by formal City Council action, as well as 
amounts determined by formal City Council action but after year end. These limitations would most likely 
come from the Finance Committee or the Administrator, but never taken to the full City Council for formal 



19 
 

action. In addition, in all funds except the general fund, any remaining fund balance in excess of the 
categories mentioned above will automatically be reported as assigned fund balance. 

Unassigned – If the general fund has resources in excess of the four categories above, that excess is 
considered unassigned. Note that only the general fund can have a positive unassigned fund balance. 

 
Financial Summaries 

The general fund is what many think of, as the City’s budget; however, the special revenue, debt service, 
capital projects and enterprise funds are important to the City’s operations, as well.  

 
Budget Revenues 

Budget preparations begin with revenue projections. Property tax revenues are projected based upon he 
total assessed value of property received form the Asessor’s Office times the appropriate assessment ratio 
times the applicable millage rate times the projected collection rate, based upon historical averages. The 
remaining revenues are projected, based upon historical trend analysis, as well as, the informed, expert 
judgment of staff. Economic, political and legislative factors are considered with projecting all revenues.  

The City Administrator estimates the revenues that will be available to spend for governmental functions. 
These estimates are primarily based on historical trends in revenue collection, adjusted for special 
situations that are likely to affect that revenue source.  

Exhibit 1: Overview Budgeted Revenues 

Revenue Anticipated 
Tax Income  $1,494,000 
Accommodations  $115,000 
Oconee Fire Contract $550,000 
Utility/Franchise $285,500 
Permit Fees $15,000 
Sanitation $875,000 
Recreation Fees $158,350 
Stumphouse Park and Rental Properties $190,750 
Fines and Fees $80,500 
Local Disbursement Option $3,000 
Miscellaneous/Sale of Capital  $628,800 
Grants $350,000 
Total General Funds $4,745,900 
  
Water Sales/Tap Fees $4,992,500 
Telecommunications $35,000 
Sewer Fees $275,000 
Total Enterprise Funds $5,302,500 
  
Community Center $5,000,000 
C-Funds $400,000 
Hospitality Fund $310,000 
SCIIP Project (Water and Sewer) $10,000,000 
Total Special Revenue Funds $15,710,000 



20 
 
Exhibit 2: Detailed Budgeted Revenues for FY 2024-2025 

General Fund 
 FY 22-23 Actual 

Revenue  
Budgeted 

Revenue, FY23-24 
YTD Revenue 
February 2024 

 Anticipated 
Revenue FY24-25  

Property Taxes - Current  $      624,844.08   $           619,500.00   $           652,065.96   $           700,000.00  
Property Taxes - Delinquent  $        30,464.28   $              20,000.00   $              26,396.51   $              30,000.00  

Homestead Exemption Refund  $        57,147.72   $              58,000.00   $              56,182.56   $              55,000.00  

Merchant's Inventory Refund  $           9,040.96   $                9,000.00   $                6,780.72   $                9,000.00  

Vehicle Property Tax  $      154,156.81   $           125,000.00   $              85,321.37   $           140,000.00  

Broker's Premium  $        11,271.39   $              10,000.00   $                             -     $              10,000.00 

Business License  $      547,950.59   $           500,000.00   $              81,001.10   $           550,000.00  

SC Tax Rebates  $                        -     $                             -     $                             -     $                             -    

Total Tax Income  $   1,434,875.83   $        1,341,500.00   $           907,748.22   $        1,494,000.00  
 

    

Accommodations Tax Rebate  $        10,297.98   $                5,500.00   $                7,863.99   $              10,000.00  

SC Tax Rebates  $        95,430.64   $              70,000.00   $              75,151.62   $            100,000.00  

TNC Account  $                 59.14   $                             -     $                      57.21   $                             -    

Accommodations Tax    $           5,138.83   $                4,000.00   $                5,082.06   $                5,000.00  

Total Accommodations   $      110,926.59   $              79,500.00   $              88,154.88   $           115,000.00  
 

    

Oconee Fire Contract  $      300,000.00   $           550,000.00   $                             -     $           550,000.00  
 

    

Blue Ridge Electric  $           4,588.74   $                4,300.00   $                             -     $                4,500.00  

Duke Power  $      188,881.83   $           170,000.00   $           146,482.94   $           200,000.00  

Fort Hill Natural Gas  $        58,995.72   $              59,000.00   $              62,443.65   $              65,000.00  

SC Housing Authority  $           8,132.19   $                8,000.00   $                7,402.27   $                8,000.00  

Bellsouth and AT&T Franchise  $           2,854.22   $                3,500.00   $                1,775.53   $                3,000.00  

Northland Cable TV Franchise  $           5,479.68   $                5,300.00   $                4,092.29   $                5,000.00  

Total Utility Revenue  $      268,932.38   $           250,100.00   $           222,196.68   $          285,500.00  
 

    

Building Permits  $                        -     $              47,000.00   $              11,879.49   $                5,000.00  

Zoning Permits  $           5,821.00   $                5,800.00   $                6,898.50   $              10,000.00  

Total Permit Revenue  $           5,821.00   $              52,800.00   $              18,777.99   $             15,000.00  
 

    

Inside City Sanitation  $      489,575.50   $           509,540.00   $           257,797.50   $           515,000.00  

Recycling Revenue  $                        -     $                4,975.00   $                             -     $                             -    

Outside City Sanitation  $      347,623.90   $           357,598.00   $           207,074.50   $           360,000.00  

Total Sanitation Revenue  $      837,199.40   $           872,113.00   $           464,872.00   $          875,000.00                                                                                    
   

    

Out of City Fees  $        27,960.80   $              30,000.00   $              22,485.00   $              30,000.00  

Sponsorships  $           3,156.00   $                5,000.00   $                4,200.00   $              25,000.00  

Oconee County Rec Donations  $        50,000.00   $              50,000.00   $                             -     $              50,000.00  

Uniforms  $        31,571.95   $              28,000.00   $              10,248.56   $              50,000.00  

Insurance Participants  $              560.00   $                    300.00   $                      36.00   $                    100.00  

In City Rec Fees  $           3,090.00   $                3,000.00   $                    935.00   $                3,000.00  

Tennis-Gym-Ball Rental  $                        -     $                             -     $                    150.00   $                    250.00  

Total Rec Fees  $      116,338.75   $           116,300.00   $              38,054.56   $           158,350.00  
 

    

Tunnel Gate  $        78,875.25   $              95,000.00   $              65,525.81   $           150,000.00  

Tunnel Shelter Rental  $              250.00   $                    500.00   $                    450.00   $                    500.00  

Stumphouse Park License  $                         -  $                              -  $                              -  $               15,000.00 

Depot Rental  $        35,364.00   $              27,000.00   $              25,184.00   $              25,000.00  

Old St Johns  $              400.00   $                    250.00   $                    200.00   $                    250.00  

Total Tunnel/Depot Revenue  $      114,889.25   $           122,750.00   $              91,359.81   $           190,750.00  
 
  

    

Traffic Fines  $        51,843.85   $              55,000.00   $              42,930.35   $              80,000.00  

Fine Assessments  $           2,006.96   $              67,300.00   $           (14,934.55)  $                             -    

Restitution  $           5,436.00   $                             -     $                 (562.50)  $                             -    

SC Collection Cost (3%)  $              698.31   $                    500.00   $                    633.84   $                    500.00  

SRO Walhalla High & Middle  $        74,990.84   $              74,991.00   $                             -     $                             -    



21 
 

Total Fines & Fees  $      134,975.96   $           197,791.00   $              28,067.14   $              80,500.00  

 
    

Local Option Disbursement  $        (3,000.00)  $                3,000.00   $                3,000.00   $              3,000.00    
 

    

Emergency Service Recovery   $           3,564.75   $                3,500.00   $                    245.50   $                3,500.00  

Sale of Capital Assets  $                        -     $                             -     $                             -     $           618,000.00    

Total Miscellaneous Income  $           3,564.75   $                3,500.00   $                    245.50   $          621,500.00  
 

    

Property Rental  $           1,500.00   $                3,000.00   $                1,500.00   $                4,200.00  

Miscellaneous Income  $  1,187,285.72   $              50,000.00   $                1,147.34   $                3,000.00  

Copy/Report Fees  $              137.00   $                             -     $                      84.00   $                    100.00  

Bond and Capital Lease Proceed  $                        -     $                             -     $           350,122.28   $                             -    

Salary Reimbursements  $           3,802.50   $                             -     $                7,820.00   $                             -    

Total Miscellaneous Income  $  1,192,725.22   $              53,000.00   $           360,673.62   $              7,300.00  
 

    

Grants  $        34,507.75   $              50,000.00   $              30,816.20   $           350,000.00  
 

    

Total General Fund Revenues  $  4,551,756.88   $        3,692,354.00   $        2,253,966.60   $        4,745,900.00  

     

Enterprise Fund 
 FY 22-23 Actual 

Revenue  
Budgeted  

Revenue, FY23-24 
YTD Revenue 
February 2024 

 Anticipated 
Revenue FY24-25  

Inside Water Sales  $  4,310,788.35   $        4,300,000.00   $           124,304.39   $           900,000.00  
Water Tap Fees  $      188,715.00   $           120,000.00   $              11,570.00   $              20,000.00  

Outside Water Sales  $                        -     $                             -     $        2,175,871.56   $        3,850,000.00  

Outside Water Tap Fees  $                        -     $                             -     $              25,700.00   $             30,000.00  

Fire Hydrant/Meters Used  $                 65.00   $                    500.00   $                    280.00   $                    500.00  

Set Up Charges  $        16,393.80   $              15,000.00   $                2,210.00   $                5,000.00  

Service Charges  $                        -     $                3,000.00   $                             -     $                1,000.00  

Water Penalties  $      111,976.97   $              80,000.00   $              84,416.46   $          125,000.00  

Reconnect Fees  $        41,085.00   $              30,000.00   $              39,340.00   $             55,000.00  

Fire Sprinklers  $           6,153.50   $                6,000.00   $                3,264.50   $               6,000.00  

Total Water Revenues  $  4,675,177.62   $        4,554,500.00   $        2,466,956.91   $     4,992,500.00  
 

    

Telecommunications  $        30,961.38   $              28,000.00   $                             -     $             35,000.00  
 

    

Inside Sewer Fees  $  1,185,558.06   $           182,747.00   $              76,943.20   $            175,000.00  

Outside Sewer Fees  $                        -  $                                -  $                            -  $              70,000.00 

West Union Sewer Fees  $        43,003.70  
 

 $                5,045.60   $                 5,000.00  

Sewer Taps  $                        -     $              10,000.00   $              33,788.97   $              25,000.00  

Total Sewer Revenue  $  1,228,561.76   $           192,747.00   $           115,777.77   $           275,000.00  
 

    

Total Enterprise Fund Revenues  $  5,934,700.76   $        4,775,247.00   $        2,582,734.68   $        5,302,500.00  

 

Hospitality Tax Fund 
 FY 22-23 Actual 

Revenue  
Budgeted  
Revenue 

YTD Revenue 
February 2024 

 Anticipated 
Revenue FY24-25  

Hospitality Tax (2%) Revenues  $    304,699.92   $       290,000.00   $     176,874.37   $        310,000.00  

 Total Hospitality Fund Revenues   $      304,699.92   $       290,000.00   $     176,874.37   $        310,000.00 
   

Special Revenue Fund 
 FY 22-23 Actual 

Revenue  
Budgeted  
Revenue 

YTD Revenue 
February 2024 

 Anticipated 
Revenue FY24-25  

Community Center (SC PRT)  $                        -   $                          -   $     5,566,895.00   $                   -  

C-Funds  $                        -  $                           -  $                      -  $       400,000.00 

Water and Sewer Projects (SCIIP)  $  $  $  $ 10,000,000.00 

 Total Special Revenue Fund   $                       -   $                         -  $     5,516,000.00   $       10,400,000.00 
   

  



22 
 

Exhibit 3: Budgeted Revenue, All Sources 

 

 

Exhibit 4: General Fund Revenues, By Type 

 

Taxes, $1,059,000.00, 
4%

Licenses and Fees, 
$2,024,600.00, 8%

Intergovernmental/Special 
Revenue, $16,700,000.00, 

63%

Fines, $80,500.00, 0%

Miscellaneous, 
$48,800.00, 0%

Grants, $350,000.00, 1%

Sale of Capital Assets, 
$618,000.00, 3%

Water, $4,992,500.00, 
19%

Sewer, $275,000.00, 
1%

Hospitality , 
$310,000.00, 1%

FY 24-25 Revenues, All Funds

Taxes, $1,059,000.00, 
18%

Licenses and Fees, 
$2,024,600.00, 34%

Intergovernmental, 
$600,000.00, 10%

Fines, $80,500.00, 1%

Miscellaneous, 
$13,800.00, 0%

Grants, $350,000.00, 6%

Sale of Capital Assets, 
$618,000.00, 11%

Transfer In/Reserve, 
$1,157,000.00, 20%

FY 24-25 General Fund Revenues, By Type



23 
 

Exhibit 5: Enterprise Fund Revenues, By Type 

 

 

Exhibit 6: Special Revenue Funds, By Type 

 

 

 

Water Sales, 
$4,992,500.00, 88%

Miscellaneous, 
$35,000.00, 1%

Sewer, $275,000.00, 5%
Transfer In, 

$350,000.00, 6%

FY 24-25 Enterprise Fund Revenues, By Type

American 
Rescue/Transfer Out, 

$700,000.00, 4%
C-Funds, $400,000.00, 

2%

Community Center, 
$5,000,000.00, 31%

Hospitality, 
$310,000.00, 2%

SCIIP Water & Sewer, 
$10,000,000.00, 61%

FY 24-25 Special Revenue Fund, By Type



24 
 

Budget Expenditures 

Exhibit 7: Budgeted Expenditures, By Type 

 

 

Capital and Debt 

Governments plan for their capital needs in a different way than their operating needs. An operating 
budget lasts one year, but a capital budget is a commitment to a series of multi-year projects that may 
have a life span of fifty years or more. The City of Walhalla is committed to financing the infrastructure 
necessary to support private economic development, residential growth and the amenities necessary to 
offer citizens the recreational and cultural experiences they expect and demand. 

Capital expenditures, which include property, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., water lines, 
sidewalks and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities 
columns in the government-wide financial statements. The City defines capital assets as assets with an 
initial, individual cost of more than $10,000 and an estimated useful life of three or more years. Major 
outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as the projects are constructed. Interest 
incurred during the construction phase of proprietary capital assets is included as part of the capitalized 
value of the assets constructed. 

All reported capital assets, except for land and construction in progress, are depreciated. Improvements 
are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Useful lives for infrastructure 
were estimated based on the City’s historical records of necessary improvements and replacement. 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 

Land improvements 15 years 
Buildings 20 to 30 years 
Building improvements 15 years 
Vehicles 3 to 7 years 

Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years 
Machinery and equipment 5 to 10 years 
Infrastructure 10 to 50 years 

General Personnel, 
$3,964,325.00, 15%

General Operating, 
$1,439,700.00, 5%

General Capital, 
$328,250.00, 1%

Enterprise Personnel, 
$1,838,250.00, 7%

Enterprise Operating, 
$3,468,200.00, 13%

Enterprise Capital, 
$270,000.00, 1%

Retiree Healthcare, 
$20,000.00, 0%

Capital Improvement 
Fund, $150,000.00, 1%

Contingency, 
$60,000.00, 0%

Depreciation, 
$50,000.00, 0%

Hospitality, 
$307,000.00, 1%

Community Center, 
$5,000,000.00, 18%

C-Funds, $400,000.00, 
1%

SCIIP Water & Sewer, 
$10,000,000.00, 37%

FY 24-25 Budgeted Expenditures, By Type



25 
 

The Capital Maintenance and Improvement Plan is a subset of the Capital Projects Fund and associated 
debt service on long-term capital projects is provided for in the debt service funds.  

Capital projects are defined as major construction, acquisition, or renovation activities that add value to a 
government’s physical assets or significantly increase their useful life. They are also called capital 
improvements. Paying for most capital items with current revenues would not be a prudent financial plan. 
Typically, local governments borrow to invest in long-lived assets, planning for the repayment of their debt 
in their annual operating budget. This is called debt service in government accounting and represents the 
portion of the operating budget that will go to finance current and previous borrowing. 

 

Debt Management 

The City of Walhalla’s current indebtedness consists of a Water and Sewer System Revenue Bond and 
Lease Purchases. Rach of these types of types of debt and any restrictions on their use are described 
below. 

2018 Series Water and Sewer System Revenue Bond 

Revenue bonds are issued for various revenue-producing projects, in this situation a water plant to treat 
and distribution water. The revenues derived from the constructed asset is pledged to pay debt service to 
secure the bond. This form of debt must be authorized by an ordinance passed by City Council. A condition 
of this bond requires certain funds, including contingency and depreciation, as well as a debt service 
coverage at 120%. The average payment is approximately $1.2 million. 

 

Exhibit 8: 2018 Series Bond Debt Service 

 

 

  

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

2018 SERIES BOND DEBT SERVICE

PRINCIPAL INTEREST



26 
 

Lease Purchases 

The City of Walhalla currently has over $875,000 in short term debt for various vehicles and equipment. The 
City is poised to pay off one lease purchase, in the amount of +/-$175,000, leaving $700,000 in short-term 
debt. The remaining debt relates to sanitation equipment and will be funded through sanitation revenues. 
There is an anticipation for another lease purchases in FY 2024-2025, in order to acquire a fire engine. 

 
Exhibit 9: Current Lease Purchases, 2024 

Issue Date Amount Due/Borrowed Payments Term Purpose 

3/21/2021 $175,490.00 $95,928.57 7 Years 
Leaf Truck, F-150, 2 Tacomas, F450, F550, 
2 Kubotas 

4/19/2022 $350,000.00 $56,643.93 7 Years Side Load Trash Truck 

7/12/2023 $350,000.00 $59,335.53 7 Years Front Load Trash Truck 

  



27 
 
 

GENERAL FUND 
 

 

 

The following functions fall under General Fund: Administration; Police; Sanitation; Street & Facilities; 
Fire; Parks, Recreation & Tourism; Court; Stumphouse Mountain Park; Depot; and Pool. Revenues are 
primarily derived from ad valorem property tax, business license, franchise and user fees. 

 

General Fund Revenue Reference (Brief description of the revenue categories that yield $100,000 or more. Does 
not include the selling of capital assets or potential grant funding.) 

Ad Valorem Tax ($925,000) – Frequently called property tax or millage rate, this is a primary source of revenue 
for the General Fund. All taxable properties within the City limits are subject to this tax.  

Sanitation Collection Fees ($875,000) – Monthly fees charged by the City to residential and commercial 
properties for the collection of their solid waste. 

Business License ($550,000) – Fee charged to all businesses who operate within the City limits of Walhalla. Fees 
are based on the type of business plus the previous year’s gross income. 

Oconee Fire Contract ($550,000) – Contractual agreement with Oconee County to provide fire protection and 
medical response services to the unincorporated Walhalla District. 

Payment from Enterprise Fund ($550,000) – A payment from the Water Fund to the General Fund for 
administration, finance, human resources and other supportive services. 

Recreation Fees ($349,100) – Includes youth sport registrations, park admissions, park/facility rental fees and an 
appropriation from Oconee County to provide recreational opportunities to the unincorporated area. 

Franchise Fees ($285,500) – Fees collected from private utility providers doing business in Walhalla, including 
electricity and cable companies. Projections are generally based on trend and publicly available data. 

SC Sales Tax Rebates ($100,000) – Also known as the Local Government Fund. Revenue from seven tax sources: 
banks, beer, wine, gasoline, motor transport, alcohol (mini bottle) and income taxes, is collected by the state and 
the revenue local governments receive is based on 4.5 percent of the previous year's state general fund base 
revenue. County governments receive 83.278 percent of the LGF, and municipal governments 16.722 percent. 
The funds are distributed quarterly and is based on a per capita basis determined by the last official census.  



28 
 

 
ADMINISTRATION 
The Administration and Finance Department provides centralized oversight for all the City’s operating functions 
and facilities the policy-making work of City Council. Executive management, City Clerk, human resources, 
finance, public information, event coordination, planning and zoning functions are housed in this department. 
The City’s outside legal counsel is also funded through this department. 

Total Expenditures 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted 
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $ 298,747.25  $ 205,727.48  $ 182,080.00  $ 360,000.00  97.7% 
Materials & Supplies 4,556.54  3,428.79  5,750.00  4,400.00  (23.4%) 
Other Services 151,899.84  406,895.05  243,326.00    180,250.00  (25.9%) 
Capital - - - - - 

Total $ 455,203.63  $ 616,051.32  $ 431,156.00  $ 544,650.00  28.6% 

 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Personnel 

Administrator, Finance Director/City Clerk and Assistant to Administrator are fully funded in the Administration 
budget. (FY24 funds Administrator and City Clerk at ½ rate and funds Assistant to Administrator fully from the 
Utility Billing budget.)  

Removes two Facilities personnel (funded ½ rate in FY24 budget) and places them in the recently created 
Streets & Facilities Department  

Addition of one position: Accounting Clerk, responsible for business license, HTAX, ATAX, permit payments, food 
truck payments, etc. This change would remove these responsibilities from the front billing staff, thereby 
reducing their workload. This position would also train to serve as back-up to the Finance Director. Currently, 
there is no back-up to Finance, including payroll, accounts receivable and accounts payable. Last year’s audit 
recommended a dedicated person to monitor compliance of business license, ATAX and HTAX.  

Adds funds for an intern position that would specifically assist with planning responsibilities. Recommend a 
Clemson intern from the Master of City and Regional Planning program. 

Operating 

Increase in dues to provide for Oconee Economic Alliance membership ($3,000); Oconee Chamber of 
Commerce Gold membership ($5,000); and Main Street Program, Friends level ($400). 

Increase in select line items (tort, insurance, advertising, legal, property fees, computer, etc.) to reflect both 
actual costs and the cost of Community Development (Earle House, public hearing notices, etc.). 

Lease purchase payments moved to appropriate departments. 

Addition of a photocopier line item to note the expense and to remove City Hall copier expense from the 
Enterprise budgets. 



29 
 

 01 ADMINISTRATION (510)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item   FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6 Month 
Spending  

 FY24-25 Dept 
Request  

 FY 24-25  
Recommendation  

 Salaries Wages       224,981.64        153,735.16      130,449.00      107,808.09  202,500.00  249,000.00  
 Contract Labor  2,589.46  -  - -                 -             10,000.00    
 Retirement  36,180.77  26,108.29  24,211.00  20,009.26  37,600.00   46,100.00  
 FICA  17,194.56  11,680.25  9,979.00  8,134.44  15,500.00    19,000.00  
 Workers Comp.  2,626.72  1,409.24           1,887.00  1,208.51   1,350.00   1,500.00  
 Health Insurance  14,199.56  12,090.70  14,804.00  15,406.95  22,675.00  33,500.00  
 Christmas Bonus  974.54                   703.84  750.00  1,461.83       775.00  900.00  

 Personnel Services Total  298,747.25  205,727.48  182,080.00         154,029.08  280,400.00  360,000.00  
 Materials & Supplies              
 Office Supplies  1,723.75  1,833.17  2,000.00  1,717.70  2,500.00         2,000.00  
 Postage  28.42  -    250.00             -    250.00             50.00  
 Gas & Oil  2,106.93  1,297.18  1,000.00  1,739.94     2,250.00          1,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies  697.44  298.44  2,500.00  2,525.25  3,500.00         1,300.00  
 Health Supplies                                            

    
                      40.00  50.00               50.00  

 Materials & Supplies Total  4,556.54  3,428.79  5,750.00              6,022.89  8,550.00  4,400.00  
 Other Services                
 Buildings  -  -  -  -            -                      -    
 Animal Shelter  - -  -  -               -                           -    
 Surety Bonds              470.00     1,125.00      785.00  1,187.50    1,500.00    1,500.00  
 Janitorial Services & Supplies  -                                       

    
  400.00  -          1,000.00          100.00  

 Dues & Licenses    3,007.76      4,926.88   5,000.00  1,810.00               9,000.00  12,000.00 
 Travel             1,309.64        1,640.87       2,500.00        162.21    1,500.00        1,000.00  
 Training        769.16           5,088.89          6,000.00       465.00              1,500.00          1,500.00  
 Meals  -  -  -  -      5,000.00       2,500.00  
 Vehicle Parts & Repairs   1,030.15                                       

    
    500.00                 -        750.00            500.00  

 Electricity   - -   - -                    -                           -    
 Telephone   3,266.67      1,455.44    1,800.00        806.15   2,500.00         1,000.00  
 Equipment Maintenance      823.21        2,969.15   3,091.00     1,939.67    2,500.00           1,000.00  
 Leases & Service Contracts      597.94  299,181.18  114,000.00  371,728.00  25,000.00                   25,000.00  
 Building Maintenance       119.47  -  -                    -      2,500.00               3,500.00  
 Cell Phones       339.76                920.15         650.00          734.47               2,000.00          2,000.00  
 Advertising  1,794.40            639.99      700.00           -         2,000.100           2,500.00  
 Legal Fees       23,843.50    10,666.00      12,000.00   13,500.00     20,000.00          20,000.00  
 Audit Fees          32,335.00      15,000.00          15,000.00       15,000.00      15,000.00            15,000.00  
 Engineering Fees  -                        -                             -                           -          5,000.00            5,000.00  
 Property Fees  -        5,879.91      2,200.00             600.38             3,500.00            3,500.00  
 Administration Cost                  23.21  -  -                         -                         -                                     -    
 Tort/Liability       19,427.17   19,724.00  20,000.00     22,013.00     24,000.00          27,000.00  
 Property Ins.               330.50                       -                   -                 24.00                100.00                 750.00  
 Vehicle Insurance          880.50           759.00          900.00             766.50            1,000.00             1,400.00  
 Computer Services        7,900.86       6,855.70   10,000.00          3,068.35      15,000.00         17,000.00  
 Photocopier  -                        -    -  -        3,500.00            5,000.00  
 Miscellaneous Expenses      5,978.43      12,649.59      9,000.00       11,465.82         5,000.00             15,000.00  
 Special Events  -                             -    -  -         3,000.00           2,500.00  
 Tax Notices       1,572.35                            -            1,600.00                         -           1,700.00            1,500.00  
 Mayor & Council Expense           135.00         1,676.52                 -                             -          1,750.00            1,750.00  
 Emergency Fund      3,740.00          6,939.23  5,400.00                           -          5,000.00           5,000.00  
 Bank Service Charges         10,792.72          8,797.55     5,000.00       3,911.91     5,000.00         5,000.00  
 Election Expense      1,463.44                             -           1,800.00             2,507.28            750.00               750.00  
 Interest Expense       29,949.00                            -    -                             -                           -                               -    
 Lease Purchases-Gen Gov wide                              -    -                             -                             -                              -    
 Capital Improvement                              -    25,000.00                           -                       -                              -    

 Other Services  151,899.84  406,895.05  243,326.00         451,690.24  166,050.00  180,250.00  

 

 Total Administration  455,203.63  616,051.32  431,156.00         611,742.21  455,000.00     544,650.00  
 

 



30 
 

POLICE 
The Walhalla Police Department is committed to serving the City by enforcing the law, keeping the peace and 
protecting those who reside and visit Walhalla. In FY24, the Police Department increased their responsibility to 
oversee and manage the Stumphouse Mountain Park, including the funding of a Park Ranger position.  

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $ 958,870.38     $ 1,163,334.38  $ 1,279,664.00  $ 1,309,500.00 2.3%  
Materials & Supplies 68,406.93        82,228.75  67,000.00   79,725.00  18.9% 
Other Services   200,924.79        208,337.89         180,270.00            229,900.00  27.5% 
Capital - 5,791.32 - 7,500.00 - 

Total $ 1,228,202.10    $ 1,459,692.34  $ 1,526,934             $ 1,626,625.00 6.5% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Personnel 

The Stumphouse Mountain Park Ranger position was moved to the Stumphouse Mountain Park (SMP) budget. 

Operating 

Select line-item increases (gas & oil, contract services, tort, insurance, etc.) to reflect actual expenses. 

Inclusion of funding for partial computer replacement. 

  



31 
 

01 POLICE (520)  

 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item   FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6 Month 
Spending  

 FY24-25 Dept 
Request  

 FY 24-25  
Recommendation  

 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages  649,054.04        760,154.99     818,458.00        497,324.87       841,708.00            845,000.00  
 Overtime   24,744.50          21,586.29  20,000.00          14,880.84         25,000.00              25,000.00  
 Retirement        117,525.06         158,053.33       172,860.00        104,584.95       177,700.00             178,500.00  
 FICA       49,855.68           57,906.36        62,612.00           37,512.97         64,500.00              65,000.00  
 Workers Comp.       31,463.16          39,242.04         42,149.00          24,362.80      43,250.00               43,500.00  
 Health Insurance       81,961.13        122,480.91      159,485.00           74,977.25        143,125.00             149,000.00  
 Christmas Bonus          1,840.81            2,246.91            2,300.00             2,192.72           2,500.00                 2,500.00  
 Unemployment                               -        
 Reserve Officers                               -        
 Physicals      2,426.00             1,663.55            1,800.00                         -             1,000.00                 1,000.00  
 Personnel Services Total  958,870.38     1,163,334.38  1,279,664.00   755,836.40  1,298,783.00         1,309,500.00  
 Materials & Supplies              
 Surety Bonds  -  -  -                         -                               -                               -    
 Polygraph Testing  -     491.91  3,500.00           -      3,500.00                 3,500.00  
 Office Supplies  11,305.30   4,787.68  4,000.00     2,418.16  4,000.00       3,500.00  
 Postage  178.53            117.79             200.00                190.17  250.00                    225.00  
 Tires     1,694.00     3,620.01  5,000.00    1,442.68  5,000.00        5,000.00  
 Gas & Oil    47,378.71   63,182.09  45,700.00      33,222.19  60,000.00        60,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies    3,101.90   3,856.76  4,000.00      3,304.77  4,000.00      4,000.00  
 Janitorial Supplies   3,334.06     5,446.63  4,000.00       4,204.70  4,000.00    3,000.00  
 Health Supplies   1,414.43    725.88  600.00        37.09  800.00   500.00  
 Materials & Supplies Total  68,406.93        82,228.75  67,000.00  44,819.76  81,550.00   79,725.00  
 Other Services              
 Meals             1,000.00                 1,000.00  
 Dues & Licenses        620.00    1,134.00  2,500.00      -    2,000.00      2,000.00  
 Travel       2,126.07   1,502.01  2,000.00    1,800.06  2,000.00  2,000.00  
 Training          4,856.11     4,882.91  6,000.00    1,133.17  5,000.00     5,000.00  
 Vehicle Repairs  11,619.84    36,226.89  15,000.00    17,003.20  30,000.00    25,000.00  
 Electricity   4,641.20      5,706.83  5,000.00   3,587.82  5,000.00   5,000.00  
 Telephone    3,862.20  3,862.20  3,800.00    2,252.95  3,800.00    3,800.00  
 Natural Gas        491.03     749.10  600.00      85.33  600.00  600.00  
 Leases & Services Contracts  36,194.58     30,133.43  25,200.00     1,767.49  38,000.00   38,000.00  
 Building Main.       5,947.81     4,592.60  5,000.00   695.87  5,000.00     5,000.00  
 Cell Phones    2,353.04     6,345.35  8,000.00   4,187.04  8,500.00   8,500.00  
 Radio Main.  1,588.00   1,584.44  1,500.00                210.69      1,500.00    1,500.00  
 Uniforms  10,673.03     13,330.10  8,000.00             3,444.59      7,000.00       7,000.00  
 Police Foundation     8,992.76                355.64                           -                               -                               -    
 Juvenile Detention   2,725.00   1,675.00  1,500.00      -    1,500.00     1,500.00  
 Advertising                  

  
           1,697.95                 

  
           1,730.74           2,000.00                2,000.00  

 Administration Cost                           -                             -                               -                               -    
 Tort/Liability  43,605.80    61,137.50  62,000.00   77,121.00     85,000.00              80,000.00  
 Property Ins.  1,830.00    1,652.00  2,170.00    2,033.50            2,500.00                 2,500.00  
 Vehicle Insurance  9,460.00  10,886.00  12,000.00  14,151.50            16,000.00              16,000.00  
 Computer Services  8,382.40  13,578.15  10,000.00  3,408.73     15,000.00               15,000.00  
 Canine Unit  3,988.37     5,288.19  4,000.00    931.04          4,000.00                4,000.00  
 Penalty  50.33        17.60                           -                               -                               -    
 Grant Match     35,580.39     2,000.00  4,000.00     126.06  4,000.00    4,000.00  
 Purchase Stolen Items Recovery       -              -    500.00    500.00  
 Other Services Total      200,924.79        208,337.89         180,270.00       135,670.78         238,900.00            229,900.00  
 Capital Outlay              
 Capital Vehicle             

  
                                 -                               -    

 Capital- Equipment                 
  

    5,791.32                  
  

               7,500.00  
 Capital-Miscellaneous                                     -                               -    
 Capital Outlay Total              

6   
           5,791.32                             -                  

  
              7,500.00  

  
  
  
  
  
  

 Total Police  1,228,202.10 
66 8   

  1,459,692.34  1,526,934       
6   

956,326.94      
6 6   

1,619,233       
6   

      1,626,625.00  



32 
 

SANITIATION 
The Sanitation Department is responsible for collecting and disposing of solid waste and recycling materials for 
residential and commercial customers. Solid waste collection includes the removal of brush, leaves, cardboard 
and large items (furniture, appliances, electronics). The department is funded by monthly fees. 

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel  $ 678,103.38  $ 655,604.13      $ 770,275.00  $          454,000.00 (41.1%)  
Materials & Supplies 155,589.00  189,208.97  197,750.00   73,000.00   (63.1%) 
Other Services 351,768.16  251,641.52  145,400.00            228,400.00   57.1% 
Capital 388,831.62  52,929.72  50,000.00  - - 

Total $ 1,574,292.16  $ 1,149,384.34  $ 1,163,425.00       $ 755,400.00 (33.4%) 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

In January 2024, the Public Works department was split into Sanitation and Streets & Facilities. The budget has 
been divided and renamed to reflect this change. The Sanitation budget is completely funded by expected 
sanitation revenues. 

Personnel 

Five employees (grounds maintenance) were transferred to the new Streets & Facilities Department, leaving 
seven employees for Sanitation. 

The vacant mechanic position will be eliminated. The proposed Fleet Management program will include a 
vehicle maintenance plan and large equipment will continue to be repaired at area shops/dealerships.  

Operating 

The proposal includes the lease purchase payment for two newly acquired sanitation trucks. 

Revisions were made to increase both materials & supplies and equipment maintenance line items after 
discussion with Council at first reading.  

Materials and supplies for Stumphouse Mountain Park (SMP) have been funded from the Public Works budget. 
These expenses have been removed and placed in the SMP budget. 

  



33 
 

01 SANITATION (530)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item   FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 FY24-25 Dept 
Request  

 FY 24-25  
Recommendation  

  Personnel Services               
  Salaries Wages     464,664.57      432,151.89      504,514.00       252,637.17      310,600.00              313,000.00  
  Overtime         18,886.91        14,722.55       15,000.00           9,776.14         10,000.00                10,000.00  
  Retirement          71,372.25         79,517.59  93,638.00      47,650.30         52,350.00                  53,000.00  
  FICA         36,086.06         33,067.66        38,595.00       19,635.07        24,000.00                 24,000.00  
  Workers Comp.         20,562.05         21,372.71       26,457.00      12,505.91           17,030.00                  17,000.00  
  Health Insurance        64,392.98        72,714.37       89,871.00     37,973.49         35,170.00                36,000.00  
  Christmas Bonus          2,138.56          2,057.36        2,200.00        1,949.10          1,500.00                   1,000.00  
  Unemployment                               -        
 Personnel Services    678,103.38   655,604.13       770,275.00      382,127.18        450,650.00           454,000.00  
  Materials and Supplies               
  Physicals   125.00  199.00  300.00  40.00  960.00  500.00  
  Office Supplies   520.08  1,298.27  1,400.00  47.67  1,000.00  500.00  
  Postage   -      -    50.00  40.26  50.00  -    
  Tires   29,783.01  34,610.13  33,000.00  18,565.08  33,000.00  -  
  Gas & Oil   110,065.09  132,406.26  137,000.00  56,831.21  160,000.00  50,000.00  
  Materials and Supplies   10,592.61  13,168.21  10,000.00  8,846.47  8,000.00  20,000.00  
  Tools        556.50  3,903.22  8,000.00  302.44  5,000.00  1,000.00  
  Gravel & Stone        1,180.71  2,800.35  3,000.00  -    1,800.00  500.00  
  Asphalt     2,400.00  136.44  3,000.00  -    -    -    
  Health Supplies    366.00  687.09  2,000.00  1,806.95  1,200.00  500.00  
  Materials and Supplies   155,589.00  189,208.97  197,750.00  86,480.08         211,010.00  73,000.00  
  Other Services               
  Janitorial Supplies   -                                -    1,500.00    227.82   600.00   250.00  
  Dues & Licenses   746.79  247.72  500.00   250.00    2,450.00  500.00  
  Travel   774.40   972.10   2,200.00  1,236.31  2,500.00  1,000.00  
  Training   235.00   370.00    1,200.00   393.78  1,350.00  500.00  
  Vehicle Parts/Repairs, Tires   85,757.10  57,512.87   40,000.00   20,540.27  60,000.00  40,000.00  
  Electricity   1,319.85   1,217.32     1,500.00  564.74  1,600.00  1,000.00  
  Telephone   1,452.29  1,833.66   1,500.00  636.33   1,500.00  1,500.00  
  Natural Gas   2,442.50  2,887.94   3,000.00   335.67   3,000.00  3,000.00  
  Equipment Main.   27,931.04  26,304.86   16,000.00   13,472.41  58,800.00  15,000.00  
  Leases & Contracts   147,122.22                              -    -     -    117,000.00  117,000.00  
  Building Main.   5,161.76  7,817.33   10,000.00   567.00  24,500.00  5,000.00  
  Grounds Main   9,239.34  9,551.20   10,000.00   1,738.33  7,000.00  2,500.00  
  Recycling   185.50       -     200.00                -     200.00  200.00  
  Cell Phones   1,107.28   1014..49   1,200.00          487.48    1,200.00  1,000.00  
  Radio Main.   -    2,350.54  2,000.00      - 1,000.00  1,000.00  
  Uniforms   10,179.94   11,911.16   10,000.00   6,823.56   9,000.00   5,000.00  
  Meals                                -        500.00   450.00  
  Advertising   73.00  634.92  1,300.00  -    1,300.00  - 
  Tort/Liability   3,505.56  4,709.00  4,800.00  5,605.50   3,500.00   1,500.00  
  Property Ins.   1,371.00  1,258.50  1,500.00  1,476.50  1,000.00  1,000.00  
  Vehicle Insurance   16,174.50  18,355.50  20,000.00  20,547.50  17,000.00  19,000.00  
  Computer Services   134.45  4,975.16  4,000.00  143.99  10,000.00  8,000.00  
  Penalty   -                                -      -    -    -    
  Grant Match   28,043.71  25,174.43  4,000.00  -    6,000.00  4,000.00  
  Miscellaneous Expense   35.00                              -      -    -    -    
 Christmas Electricity  -    799.27    -    -    -    
 Street Lights  -    61,369.72    -    -    -    

 Other Services  351,768.16  251,641.52  145,400.00  79,889.40  336,500.00  228,400.00  
 Capital Outlay              
  Capital-Vehicle                 

  
                                            

    
    

  Capital-Equipment   12,957.06  52,929.72  50,000.00  358,442.78      
  Capital-Miscellaneous   -        -        

 Capital  388,831.62  52,929.72  50,000.00  358,442.78  -    -    
  
  
  
  
  
  

 Total Sanitation  1,574,292.16  1,149,384.34  1,163,425.00  524,812.26  1,005,160.00  755,400.00  



34 
 

STREETS & FACILITIES 
The Streets & Facilities Department is responsible for maintaining and improving City-owned and operated 
spaces. Duties include maintenance, repair and landscaping operations for City-owned and leased facilities; and 
assists with festivals and other City-sponsored events. This department is also responsible for the oversight of 
City infrastructure, including streets, sidewalks and rights-of-way, signage, street lighting on City-owned streets 
and recreational fields and pool. 

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel - - - $ 522,750.00 - 
Materials & Supplies - - - 55,000.00  - 
Other Services - - -           112,500.00  - 
Capital - - - 40,750.00 - 

Total - - -      $ 731,500.00 - 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

On January 2024, the Public Works department was split into Sanitation and Streets & Facilities. The budget has 
been divided and renamed to reflect this change. 

Personnel 

Two employees (Funded in FY24 by Administration and Utility Billing) have been moved and fully funded in this 
proposed budget. 

Five maintenance employees were moved from former Public Works department. 

Includes a transfer of a grounds/maintenance position from the Rec department to maintain the City’s 
fields/parks. (This position was previously transferred from Public Works to Rec for the purpose of maintaining 
the parks/fields.) 

Operating 

Every effort was made to ensure adequate funding for this new department, but adjustments may be required. 

Includes funding for a new capital: finish mower, diesel mower and side-by-side with dump bed.  



35 
 

                                                01 STREETS & FACILITIES (531)  
                                                  2024-2025 Budget  

 Item   FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024  
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 Department  
Request  

 Department  
Recommended  

  Personnel Services               
  Salaries Wages           303,000.00   346,000.00  
  Overtime           5,000.00  5,000.00  
  Retirement            55,000.00   64,000.00  
  FICA            23,000.00   26,500.00  
  Workers Comp.           12,000.00   12,000.00  
  Health Insurance           62,000.00  68,000.00  
  Christmas Bonus           1,100.00  1,250.00  
  Unemployment              -    -    
 Personnel Services       461,100.00  522,750.00  
  Materials and Supplies               
  Physicals           300.00   - 
  Office Supplies           1,400.00  500.00  
  Postage           50.00  -    
  Tires           33,000.00  -    
  Gas & Oil           137,000.00  30,000.00  
  Materials and Supplies           18,000.00  10,000.00  
  Tools           21,000.00  7,500.00  
  Gravel & Stone           3,000.00  3,000.00  
  Asphalt           3,000.00  3,000.00  
  Health Supplies           2,000.00  1,000.00  
  Materials and Supplies       218,750.00  55,000.00  
  Other Services               
  Janitorial Supplies           1,500.00  500.00  
  Dues & Licenses           500.00  -    
  Travel           2,200.00  1,000.00  
  Training           1,200.00  1,000.00  
  Vehicle Repairs / Tires          45,000.00  10,000.00  
  Telephone           1,500.00  1,500.00  
  Traffic Signals -Electricity          4,000.00  4,000.00  
  Natural Gas           3,000.00  -    
  Equipment Main.           27,000.00  10,000.00  
  Leases & Contracts           -    -    
  Building Main.           10,000.00  7,500.00  
  Grounds Main           17,000.00  16,000.00  
  Cell Phones           1,200.00  1,250.00  
  Radio Main.           2,000.00    
  Uniforms           14,000.00  6,000.00  
  Meals          -    750.00    
  Advertising           1,300.00  250.00  
  Tort/Liability           4,800.00  5,000.00  
  Property Ins.        1,500.00  1,000.00  
  Vehicle Insurance        20,000.00  3,000.00  
  Computer Services        9,000.00  1,250.00  
  Grant Match        4,000.00  4,000.00  
  Electricity-Christmas Lights        1,500.00  1,000.00  
  Electricity-Street Lights        57,000.00  45,000.00  
 Other Services      235,700.00  112,500.00  
 Capital Outlay              
  Capital-Vehicle               
  Capital-Equipment           40,750.00  40,750.00  
 Capital      40,750.00  40,750.00  
       
 Total Facilities & Grounds      956,300.00  731,500.00  

 



36 
 

FIRE 
The Walhalla Fire Department provides a team of highly trained, professional emergency service personnel to the 
citizens of Walhalla, as well as the Walhalla Fire District. Services include fire suppression, motor vehicle collision 
response, rescue, fire cause determination, hazardous material incident mitigation, fire and life safety education 
and fire prevention activities. The Department has earned and maintains BLS certification through SC DHEC. 

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel     $ 540,597.44  $ 448,872.86  $ 699,034.00  $ 796,500.00 13.9% 
Materials & Supplies          31,733.90  38,606.20  55,050.00                54,050.00   (1.8%) 
Other Services        169,116.59  72,680.27  100,750.00              150,250.00  49.1% 
Capital          42,240.80  11,000.00  - 250,000.00 - 

Total    $ 783,688.73  $ 571,159.33  $ 854,834.00       $         1,250,800.00 46.3% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Approximately 44% of the budget is funded by the fire contract to provide fire protection services in the 
unincorporated Walhalla Fire District. 

Personnel 

With full time positions currently filled, the overtime line item has been reduced.  

One part-time position to assist with office and grant management.  

Operating 

Select line-item increases (gas & oil, maintenance, tort, insurance, etc.) to reflect actual expenses. 

Inclusion of funding for bunker gear replacement and a new fire engine.  



37 
 

01 FIRE (540)  

 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month  
Spending  

 FY24-25 
Dept Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages            390,206.02  296,233.82  453,400.00  258,881.34    530,000.00   530,000.00  
 Overtime                  3,128.61  12,506.59  15,000.00  24,644.52  8,600.00  8,500.00  
 Retirement               60,903.28  60,365.83  95,069.00  57,236.20  110,400.00  110,500.00  
 FICA               29,659.97  23,144.49  34,685.00  21,389.21  41,000.00  40,500.00  
 Workers Comp.               15,530.96  12,632.11  18,363.00  11,186.88  21,000.00  20,500.00  
 Health Insurance               39,544.38  42,663.51  81,017.00  30,303.63  73,000.00  84,000.00  
 Christmas Bonus                 1,624.22  1,326.51  1,500.00  1,543.08  1,500.00  1,500.00  
 Unemployment                                 -              
 Physicals                                 -          1,000.00  1,000.00  
 Personal Services         540,597.44  448,872.86  699,034.00  405,184.86           791,500.00              796,500.00  
 Materials and Supplies              
 Volunteer Fireman                  6,110.66  8,932.90  8,000.00  7,628.86  10,000.00  10,000.00  
 Office Supplies                                 -    3,007.69  5,000.00  3,667.46  2,000.00  2,000.00  
 Postage                                 -    7.85  50.00  -    50.00  50.00  
 Tires                      672.26  3,447.64  6,000.00  6,291.98  -    -    
 Gas & Oil               19,582.03  17,589.43  20,000.00  12,546.89  26,000.00  26,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies                      554.97  705.93  1,000.00  35.00  1,000.00  1,000.00  
 Janitorial Supplies                      535.38  1,920.46  3,000.00  16.51  3,000.00  3,000.00  
 Health Supplies & Resources                 4,278.60  2,994.30  12,000.00  11,456.41  12,000.00  12,000.00  
 Materials & Supplies            31,733.90  38,606.20  55,050.00  41,643.11              54,050.00                54,050.00  
 Other Services              
 Dues & Licenses                  6,895.72  4,029.84  8,000.00  5,650.85  12,000.00  11,400.00  
 Travel  75.00  954.85  3,000.00  -    5,000.00  5,000.00  
 Training                  3,381.56  6,979.00  7,500.00  260.00  7,500.00   7,500.00  
 Vehicle Parts & Repairs/Tires               23,010.55  8,314.69  10,000.00  9,690.67  22,000.00   22,000.00  
 Fire Prevention/Investigation                      632.80  1,720.93  3,000.00  674.27  3,000.00   3,000.00  
 Electricity                  8,579.64  5,772.24  7,000.00  5,004.51  10,000.00   10,000.00  
 Telephone                  1,159.80  811.34  1,500.00  525.21  1,500.00   1,500.00  
 Natural Gas                  1,087.81  1,034.44  1,000.00  149.65  1,000.00   1,000.00  
 Equipment Main.                  5,610.48  5,108.04  10,000.00  9,783.40  20,000.00   20,000.00  
 Leases & Contracts               84,831.59  -    -    -    -     -    
 Building Main.                  7,987.84  4,107.22  8,000.00  4,160.60  15,000.00   15,000.00  
 Grounds Main                      508.33  275.66  350.00  -    350.00   350.00  
 Cell Phones                 2,640.79  1,827.14  3,100.00  2,135.30  4,000.00   4,000.00  
 Radio Main.                  5,094.34  832.29  8,000.00  7,194.42  10,000.00   10,000.00  
 Uniforms                 4,769.02  7,889.66  8,500.00  4,114.48  10,000.00   10,000.00  
 Meals          2,000.00   2,000.00  
 Advertising                                 -    -    300.00  -    500.00   500.00  
 Tort/Liability                  3,610.82  4,254.50  5,000.00  5,810.50  7,500.00   7,500.00  
 Property Ins.                  1,834.50  2,260.50  2,500.00  2,792.50  3,500.00   3,200.00  
 Vehicle Insurance                 7,406.00  8,372.00  9,000.00  9,441.50  10,000.00   10,300.00  
 Penalty                                 -          -     -    
 Computer Services                                 -          -     -    
 Copier Lease/Charges          1,000.00   1,000.00  
 Grant Match                                 -    8,135.93  5,000.00  -    10,000.00   10,000.00  
 Emergency Recovery                                  -          -     -    
 Other Services         169,116.59  72,680.27  100,750.00  67,387.86           155,850.00              150,250.00  
 Capital Outlay               
 Capital-Vehicle         200,000.00   200,000.00  
 Capital-Equipment              42,240.80  11,000.00      50,000.00   50,000.00  
 Capital-Miscellaneous          -     -    
 Capital- Facility          -     -    
  Capital            42,240.80  11,000.00                           -               250,000.00              250,000.00  
 Total Fire         783,688.73  571,159.33  854,834.00  514,215.83       1,251,400.00          1,250,800.00  



38 
 

PARKS, RECREATION & TOURISM 

The Parks, Recreation & Tourism (PRT) is responsible for park management, youth sports, recreational 
opportunities for citizens and the surrounding community and City tourism. City parks include Sertoma Fields, 
Memorial Field, City Park with pool, Kaufmann Square, City Square, Wanderweg Greenway and the soon to be 
constructed Community Center. 

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted FY24 Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $ 228,530.00     $ 166,568.83  $ 262,448.00  $          354,000.00 34.9%  
Materials & Supplies            6,268.97          3,952.56  8,750.00   6,250.00 (28.6%) 
Other Services       188,819.88  99,996.84  221,035.00  190,050.00 (14.0%) 
Capital - 22,000.00   - 30,000.00 - 

Total    $  382,262.94  $ 292,518.23  $ 492,233.00       $ 580,350.00 17.9% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Newly expanded and renamed from Recreation to PRT. Approximately 43% of the budget is funded by expected 
Recreation programming revenues and HTAX.  

Personnel 

Adds a PRT Director, funded through HTAX, with the responsibilities of park management, tourism efforts of City 
and SMP, partnerships with related agencies, grant funding, project management, oversight of recreation 
(Recreation Director will report to PRT Director). 

Transfer of a grounds/maintenance position to the Streets & Facilities department to maintain the City’s 
fields/parks. (This position was previously transferred from Public Works to Rec for the purpose of maintaining 
the parks/fields.) 

Operating 

Line items were reduced to reflect past and current expenditures. 

Game officials, electricity, tort and insurance were increased to reflect actual expenses.  

The uniform portion of the registration fees was increased to cover the expense of the uniform. 

Inclusion of funding for new capital: a gator.  



39 
 

01 PARKS AND RECREATION (550)  

 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 FY 24-25 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Salaries Wages              165,117.51  118,351.30  158,000.00      108,408.70       200,750.00  260,000.00  
 Overtime                                 -      2,500.00  326.25                 1,000.00  1,000.00  
 Retirement    25,061.34  20,858.24  25,918.00         18,632.38       33,000.00  40,500.00  
 FICA               12,402.15     8,918.24  14,979.00   8,339.68    15,500.00  20,500.00  
 Workers Comp.                   3,374.37             2,661.12  4,445.00  2,468.20                 5,000.00  6,000.00  
 Health Insurance                21,735.44          14,940.72  17,606.00     9,984.07        19,080.00  25,000.00  
 Christmas Bonus                      839.19                839.21  1,200.00          758.02      1,075.00  1,000.00  
 Personnel Services          228,530.00     166,568.83  262,448.00  148,917.30    275,405.00  354,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies              
 Office Supplies       314.36  204.27  400.00  96.97      1,000.00  250.00  
 Postage                                 -                              -    50.00  -                                  -    -    
 Tires                       313.38  -    800.00  -                       500.00  -    
 Gas & Oil                  4,571.79  3,679.25  4,500.00  2,156.16                 7,000.00  4,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies                      947.98                   69.04  1,500.00  1,822.20                 2,500.00  2,000.00  
 Gravel & Stone                        56.00                            -    1,000.00  -                                  -    -    
 Credit Card Service Charges                                 -                              -    300.00  -                                  -    -    
 Health Supplies                        65.46                            -    200.00  -                       500.00  -  
 Material and Supplies             6,268.97          3,952.56  8,750.00  4,075.33           11,500.00  6,250.00  
 Other Services              
 Surety Bonds                      135.00                            -    135.00  -                    150.00  150.00  
 Janitorial Services & Supplies                  1,150.45  692.72  1,200.00  555.53                 1,800.00  750.00  
 Dues & Licenses                 2,408.49             1,850.00  3,500.00  100.00                     250.00  2,000.00  
 Travel                 6,019.00  425.00  6,000.00  390.39                 2,500.00  1,000.00  
 Training                                 -                               -    500.00  224.05                 1,000.00  500.00  
 Vehicle Parts and Repairs                      161.00                            -    500.00  356.69                 1,000.00  500.00  
 Telephone                  1,148.02  873.65  900.00  502.53                     500.00  1,000.00  
 Natural Gas                   3,311.05  2,950.94  4,500.00  413.92                     500.00  2,500.00  
 Equipment Main.                   1,192.17  444.98  1,500.00  1,299.19                 2,500.00  1,000.00  
 Lease and Service Contracts                 6,427.99  -    -                     2,500.00  2,500.00  
 Building Main.                 3,682.06  1,671.12  4,000.00  1,893.96                 5,000.00  2,000.00  
 Grounds Main                10,161.17  6,369.95  10,000.00  8,965.90              15,000.00  5,000.00  
 Cell Phones                      448.18  325.41  700.00  249.11                     500.00  500.00  
 Oconee County Rec. Funds               31,222.30  2,322.16  50,000.00  15,078.03                                -    50,000.00  
 Game Officials               20,301.00  23,446.00  28,000.00  13,183.00              40,000.00  30,000.00  
 Senior Citizens                                 -    -                                      -    -    
 Advertising                                 -    -    200.00  72.50                     500.00  250.00  
 Sponsor Banner                     400.00  343.44  400.00  620.10                 1,500.00  1,000.00  
 Tort/Liability                   1,511.18  1,887.00  1,900.00  2,349.50                 3,000.00  2,700.00  
 Property Ins.                  5,706.00  6,445.50  6,500.00  7,990.50              10,000.00  8,100.00  
 Vehicle Insurance                  1,476.00  1,561.50  1,600.00  1,417.50                 1,500.00  1,600.00  
 Computer Services                      190.00  -    1,000.00  3,378.89                 6,500.00  1,000.00  
 Miscellaneous Expense                                 -    -       (74.28)                    250.00  250.00  
 Electricity-Ballfields                16,857.38  11,241.55  17,000.00            9,277.53              20,000.00  18,000.00  
 Electricity-Tennis ct.                     544.62  376.13  1,000.00  468.85                 1,000.00  750.00  
 Electricity- Gym                  7,912.68  6,694.81  9,000.00  3,366.01                 7,000.00  7,000.00  
 Sports Equipment               21,073.89  10,653.11          30,000.00  21,428.93              40,000.00  10,000.00  
 Capital- Equipment                18,717.38  -    -                                    -    -    
 Uniforms Sports               24,521.87  19,373.87  35,000.00  8,274.06              40,000.00  35,000.00  
 Insurance-Sports                  2,141.00  48.00  6,000.00  954.00                                -    -    
 Grant Match                      20,000.00  5,000.00  
 Other Services Total        188,819.88  99,996.84  221,035.00  102,736.39         224,450.00  190,050.00  
 Capital Outlay            
 Capital - Equipment                      30,000.00  30,000.00  
 Chicopee Ballfield    22,000.00  -     (612.36)                               -    -    
 Capital                             -    22,000.00                           -           (612.36)          30,000.00  30,000.00  
 Total Recreation         382,262.94  292,518.23  492,233.00    255,116.66         541,355.00  580,350.00  



40 
 

COURT 
The Municipal Court is responsible to try all cases arising due to violating city ordinances and other powers and 
authority in criminal cases made under state law and conferred upon magistrates.   

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted FY24 Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel      $ 65,409.72     $ 68,552.94  $ 62,788.00  $ 81,000.00 29.0%  
Materials & Supplies      6,403.73      9,979.96  9,700.00   12,000.00 23.7% 
Other Services - - - - - 
Capital - - - - - 

Total     $ 71,813.45    $ 78,532.90   $ 72,488.00       $ 93,000.00 28.3% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Nearly 90% of the budget is funded by expected fine revenue. 

Personnel 

Includes a stipend for an Associate Judge position to serve as back-up to the City Judge. 

Operating 

Increase to leases & contracts to reflect current and upcoming expenses.  



41 
 

01 COURT (558)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month  
Spending  

 FY 24-25 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommendation  

 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages        45,422.04      49,828.32  47,200.00 29,311.98   55,050.00   62,000.00  
 Overtime                                   -        -    -       -     -    
 Retirement        7,118.17      7,443.57  5,791.00  3,955.45   7,160.00   7,500.00  
 FICA        3,218.48      3,633.78   3,611.00   2,245.41   4,220.00   4,540.00  
 Workers Comp.        233.26      283.62  267.00   146.61   300.00   500.00  
 Health Insurance        9,282.42      7,228.30  5,869.00   3,324.70   6,360.00   6,360.00  
 Christmas Bonus        135.35       135.35  50.00   81.22   150.00   100.00  
 Unemployment                                   -        -            
 Jury Pay                                   -              
 Personnel Services        65,409.72      68,552.94  62,788.00   39,065.37   73,240.00   81,000.00  
              
 Materials and Supplies             
 Office Supplies        1,688.11      5,890.96  4,500.00   2,428.82   5,000.00   3,000.00  
 Travel        -    500.00   -     500.00   250.00  
 Training       658.12      -    500.00   -     500.00   250.00  
 Leases and Contracts       3,653.00      3,653.00  3,700.00   6,393.00   10,000.00   8,000.00  
 Restitution Paid       404.50      436.00  500.00   4,437.50   500.00   500.00  
 Material and Supplies       6,403.73      9,979.96  9,700.00   13,259.32   16,500.00   12,000.00  
              
 Total Court       71,813.45      78,532.90   72,488.00   52,324.69   89,740.00   93,000.00  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



42 
 

GENERAL PROPERTIES (POOL, DEPOT, STUMPHOUSE MOUNTAIN PARK) 
The following General Properties are General Fund expenses that fall outside a specific department operating 
budgets and include the Depot at Kaufmann Square, the City Pool and Stumphouse Mountain Park. 

Total Expenditures, Pool 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted FY24 Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel - - - - - 
Materials & Supplies 10,649.69  10,320.25            12,500.00   14,500.00 16.0% 
Other Services - - - - - 
Capital - - - - - 

Total     $ 10,649.69    $ 10,320.25  $ 12,500.00      $ 14,500.00 16.0% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

The Pool budget is completely funded by HTAX. 

Personnel 

None 

Operating 

Increases in line items to reflect actual insurance costs and needed maintenance/materials & supplies. 

 

 

17 POOL (551)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 FY 24-25 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Item              

 Materials & Supplies  -    -                              -              3,326.18            2,500.00                      2,500.00  

 Pool Chemicals  -                                -          

 Dues & Licenses  250.00  250.00                   300.00               250.00                250.00                          250.00  

 Electricity  4,761.90  4,732.09               6,200.00             2,383.11            5,000.00                      5,000.00  

 Telephone  1,113.90  956.23                   800.00                774.61            1,000.00                       1,000.00  

 Building Maintenance  373.39  66.43                   500.00                547.61                750.00                          750.00  

 Tort Liability  3,034.00  2,992.50                3,300.00            2,871.50            3,000.00                       3,000.00  

 Property Insurance  1,116.50  1,323.00               1,400.00            1,643.00            2,000.00                      2,000.00  

 Total Pool  10,649.69  10,320.25            12,500.00        11,796.01         14,500.00                   14,500.00  
 

 

 

 



43 
 
Total Expenditures, Depot 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted FY24 Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel - - - - - 
Materials & Supplies 11,075.19  14,066.31            12,875.00   18,000.00 39.8% 
Other Services - - - - - 
Capital - - - - - 

Total     $ 11,075.19   $ 14,066.31  $ 12,875.00      $ 18,000.00 39.8% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

The Depot budget is completely funded by projected rental revenues. 

Personnel 

None 

Operating 

Increases in line items to reflect actual tort, insurance expenses and needed maintenance. 

 

01 DEPOT (555)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 FY 24-25 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Contract Labor  5,080.00  5,580.00               5,000.00            3,210.00            5,000.00                      5,000.00  

 Janitorial Supplies  -    -                     350.00                         -                  250.00                          250.00  

 Electricity  3,182.54  5,745.71               4,000.00            4,802.42            5,000.00                      5,000.00  

 Natural Gas  1,025.68  1,244.28                1,100.00                144.44            1,000.00                       1,000.00  

 Building Maintenance   975.97  280.32               1,000.00                   17.12            3,500.00                       3,500.00  

 Grounds Maintenance   -    -                     300.00                         -              1,000.00                       1,000.00  

 Property Insurance  811.00  966.00               1,000.00            1,567.00            2,000.00                      2,000.00  

 Miscellaneous  -    250.00                   125.00                         -                  250.00                          250.00  

 Total Depot  11,075.19  14,066.31            12,875.00          9,740.98         18,000.00                   18,000.00  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



44 
 
Total Expenditures, Stumphouse Mountain Park (SMP) 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted FY24 Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $ 3,838.17  $ 12,831.00  $ 23,000.00  $ 78,575.00 241.6%  
Materials & Supplies 13,636.68  32,256.92  18,200.00  22,500.00 23.6% 
Other Services 8,560.88  139,398.83  822,234.00  16,875.00 (97.9%) 
Capital - - - - - 

Total $ 26,035.73  $ 184,486.75  $ 863,434.00       $ 117,950.00 (86.3%) 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

The SMP budget is completely funded by expected admission revenues. 

Personnel 

SMP Park Ranger has been moved from the Police budget. 

Operating 

Operating expenses have previously been covered by the Public Works budget. Those have been moved to the SMP 
budget, increasing accountability, transparency and accurate accounting. 

A supplemental budget was recommended by the PRT Committee for in-progress and upcoming projects for the 
unexpended funds from a previous appropriation. 

 

  



45 
 

01 STUMPHOUSE MOUNTAIN PARK (556)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 Department 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Personnel Services              
 Contractor  3,838.17  12,831.00  23,000.00  15,833.00  5,000.00  -    
 Salaries/Wages          52,000.00  52,000.00  
 Overtime          2,000.00  2,000.00  
 Retirement          11,050.00  11,050.00  
 FICA          4,000.00  4,000.00  
 Workers Comp.          3,000.00  3,000.00  
 Health Insurance          6,400.00  6,400.00  
 Christmas Bonus          125.00  125.00  
 Unemployment          -                                    -    
 Physicals              
 Personnel Services Total  3,838.17  12,831.00  23,000.00  15,833.00  83,575.00  78,575.00  
              
 Materials & Supplies              
 Office Supplies     10,500.00  10,000.00   8,000.00  
 Gas & Oil    200.00                                     4,000.00   4,000.00  
 Materials & Supplies  1,064.58  232.88  3,000.00  11,532.01  5,000.00   4,000.00  
 Janitorial Supplies  3,042.22  1,919.04  2,000.00  3,421.20  3,500.00   3,500.00  
 Miscellaneous Expense  6,562.94  4,443.00  5,000.00  5,851.50  1,000.00   1,000.00  
 Capital Miscellaneous  2,966.94  -    8,000.00    2,000.00   2,000.00  
 Total Materials & Supplies  13,636.68  32,256.92  18,200.00  31,304.71  25,500.00   22,500.00  

        
 Other Services              
 Vehicle Repairs          1,500.00  1,500.00  
 Electricity  971.88  592.33  800.00  740.06  800.00  800.00 
 Leases & Services Contracts          -                     -    
 Building Main.          250.00  250.00  
 Cell Phones          1,200.00  1,200.00  
 Grounds Main.          2,000.00  2,000.00  
 Uniforms          1,000.00  1,000.00  
 Advertising          2,500.00  2,500.00  
 Administration Cost          -           -    
 Tort/Liability          6,000.00  6,000.00  
 Property Ins.  71.00  75.50  100.00  92.00  125.00  125.00  
 Vehicle Insurance          1,000.00  1,000.00  
 Computer Services          500.00  500.00  
 Grant Match  7,518.00  138,731.00  821,334.00  694,952.62  2,000.00  - 
 Other Services Total  8,560.88  139,398.83  822,234.00  695,784.68  18,875.00  16,875.00  
              
Total Stumphouse Park 26,035.73  184,486.75  863,434.00  742,922.39  127,950.00  117,950.00  

 

 

 

  



46 
 
 

OTHER FUNDS  
 

 

 

 

Other Funds include Special Revenue Funds and Other Restricted Funds: Community Center, C-Funds, 
Capital Improvement Fund, Contingency, Depreciation, Retiree Healthcare, SCIIP Water & Sewer 
Projects, ARPA and HTAX. Funding varies but includes appropriations, grants and inter-departmental 
funding. 

 

Special Fund Revenue Reference (Brief description of the revenue categories that yield $100,000 or more. Does 
not include the selling of capital assets or potential grant funding.) 

SC PRT ($5,000,000) – Appropriation restricted to the construction of a new community center.  

C-Fund ($400,000) – Appropriation restricted to the paving and sidewalk work, previously approved. 

RIA SCIIP ($10,000,000) – Grant restricted to the water and sewer line upgrades, previously approved, including 
Rocky Knoll pump station, Cane Creek sewer line and West Main sewer line replacements. 

HTAX ($310,000) – Revenues from 2% HTAX imposed on prepared food and drink, paid by the customer. Expenses 
are restricted to tourism related uses. 

ARPA ($700,000) – Appropriation from COVID period and restricted to infrastructure or COVID related loss of 
income. 

 

  



47 
 

COMMUNITY CENTER 

With SC Legislative Delegation support, the City of Walhalla was a recipient of a SC PRT appropriation of 
over $5,000,000. FY23-24 spending was limited to environmental assessments, the purchase of property on 
Hwy 28 and closing costs. FY25 costs will include the design and construction of the center and related 
expenses. 

 

Community Center  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 Department 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Materials & Supplies              
 Office Supplies        
 Gas & Oil        
 Materials & Supplies       $2,000,000 
 Janitorial Supplies        
 Miscellaneous Expense        
 Capital Miscellaneous        
 Total Materials & Supplies       $2,000,000 

        
 Other Services        
Engineering      $2,000,000 
Advertising      $250 
Property Insurance      $250 
Tort/Liability      $1,000 
Administration Cost      $2,48,500 
Contingency      $750,000 
 Other Services Total       $3,000,000 
        
Total Community Center      $5,000,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



48 
 

C-FUND 

In January 2022, the Oconee C-Fund Committee approved and appropriation of over $700,000 for sidewalk and paving 
work. Sidewalk upgrades begin in FY24 with paving projects expected in FY25. Once the projects are complete, the 
City intends to reapply for funding. 

 
 

C-Funds  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 Department 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Materials & Supplies              
 Office Supplies        
 Gas & Oil        
 Materials & Supplies       $200,000 
 Janitorial Supplies        
 Miscellaneous Expense        
 Capital Miscellaneous        
 Total Materials & Supplies       $200,000 

       
 Other Services        
Engineering      $150,000 
Advertising       
Property Insurance       
Tort/Liability       
Administration Cost       
Contingency      $50,000 
 Other Services Total       $200,000 
        
Total Community Center      $400,000 

 

 

 

  



49 
 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND 

Departmental capital requests, prioritized during budget workshops, are allocated within the capital line item of each 
department’s budget. The following Capital Improvement Fund funds the participation in a fleet management 
program, providing vehicle rotation City-wide, as well as a fund for unexpected capital needs that may arise in the year. 

 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND  

 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item   FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 

Approved   FY 2023 YTD  
 FY 2024 

Approved  
 6-Month 
Spending  

 FY 24-25 
Request  

 Initial Fund Designation    200,000.00       200,000.00        

 Contribution    80,000.00         60,000.00  25,000.00         100,000.00  

 Sale of Surplus Property              11,122.44  20,000.00         50,000.00  

 Misc/Insurance             190,573.83        

 Total Contributions to Fund    280,000.00     461,696.27  45,000.00         150,000.00  

              

 Capital -General- Other    -          150,000.00  

 Capital-General-Police    -         142,041.00  -       

 Capital-General-Tunnel    -      -        

 Capital- General- PW    -         151,439.89  13,000.00    25,000.00    
 Capital- General- Fire    90,000.00         50,545.10  17,000.00      
 Capital -General- Rec    12,000.00            8,491.83        
 Capital- Utilities- Water        63,000.00      
 Capital- Utilities- Sewer              
 Total Capital     102,000.00      352,517.82  93,000.00                  150,000.00    
              

 FUND BALANCE TOTAL    178,000.00      109,178.45  61,178.45   -    61,178.45  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



50 
 

Retiree Healthcare Fund 

Created in FY 24, the Retiree Healthcare Program is a new employee benefit. The City will pay for 75% of City 
Retirees health insurance until they reach the age of 65. Eligible participants must retiree from the City with 28 (SRS) 
or 25 (PORS) years and have spent the last 15 years with the City. This program serves to attract talent and gives 
employees an incentive to stay. Overall costs of the program for the next five (5) years are estimated at $46,000. 

 
RETIREE HEALTHCARE FUND  

 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 21 Actual   FY 22 Actual   FY 2024 Approved  
 FY 24-25 
Request  

          
 Contribution from General                                   10,600.00                               20,000.00  
                                                   -      
          
 Total Contributions to Fund                                  10,600.00                              20,000.00  
          
  Retiree Healthcare Benefits                                   10,600.00                                17,000.00  
                                                   -      
 Total Retiree Healtcare Benefits                                  10,600.00                              17,000.00  
          
 FUND BALANCE TOTAL                                                   -                                   3,000.00  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



51 
 

AMERICAN RESCUE FUND (ARPA) 

The American Rescue Plan Act was signed into law until March 11, 2021. Walhalla received a $2.2 million 
allocation over several installments. The ARPA initial distribution of $1.1 million was received on November 
16, 2021, and used to replace non-working water meters with digital radio read meters and provide 
premium pay to employees who worked through the COVID-19 pandemic. Another portion of the funds 
were used to fund economic development programs through Walhalla Downtown Development 
Corporation, in accordance with the interim rule issued by the US Treasury – later passed as final rule. 
Remaining funds are obligated towards infrastructure and capital, including equipment, water system work 
and water meter upgrades.  

*Oconee County approved +/- $2.474 million for water system infrastructure improvements along Highway 
11 on October 19, 2021. The totality of these funds has been spent on the Hwy 11 water line project, which 
is expected to be complete 2024.    

AMERICAN RESCUE FUND REVENUE 
2024-2025 Budget 

Description FY 2022 Actual  FY 2023 Actual   FY 2024 Approved  
 FY 24-25 
Request  

ARP Income 1,113,179.09  0  2,474,080.00  700,000.00  

     
 

AMERICAN RESCUE FUND EXPENDITURES 
2024-2025 Budget 

Description FY 2022 Actual  FY 2023 Actual   FY 2024 YTD  
 FY 24-25 
Request  

          
 Transfer to General  216,348.00  60,000.00   350,000.00  
 Transfer to Water  88,297.00      350,000.00  
 Transfer to Sewer          
 Transfer to Other  25,000.00  8,218.84      
 Waterline Improvement D/B      2,474,080.00    

 Total     329,645.00  68,218.84  3,189,941.70  700,000.00  
          

 FUND BALANCE TOTAL   783,534.09  715,315.25  715,315.25  15,315.25  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



52 
 

SCIIP, WATER & SEWER PROJECTS 

Awarded in FY 23, the SCIIP grant through the RIA will fund several water and sewer projects including the 
rehabilitation of the remainder of the Cane Creek trunk line, Flat Rock trunk line and south eastern trunk 
line; replacement of the Rocky Knoll Pump Station; the rehabilitation of the West Side Water System, 
replacing of some of the oldest water mains within the system. The City’s match will come from ARPA and 
reserve funds. 
 

SCIIP, Water and Sewer Projects 
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY2024 
Approved  

 6-Month 
Spending  

 Department 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Materials & Supplies              
 Office Supplies        
 Gas & Oil        
 Materials & Supplies       $8,000,000 
 Janitorial Supplies        
 Miscellaneous Expense        
 Capital Miscellaneous        
 Total Materials & Supplies       $8,000,000 

        
 Other Services        
Engineering      $1,250,000 
Advertising       
Property Insurance       
Tort/Liability       
Administration Cost       
Contingency      $750,000 
 Other Services Total       $2,000,000 
        
Total Community Center      $10,000,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



53 
 

CONTINGENCY FUND 
 
The contingency fund was established by the bond ordinance issued for the 2018 Series Bond. This fund is paid into by 
the City and the funds are used to replace components of the water and sewer system. Annual contributions are 
$60,000. This fund will also be used to help pay for system improvements and for matching fund for the SCIIP grant. 

 
 

CONTINGENCY FUND  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item  
 FY 22 

Approved    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 

Approved  
 FY 2023 
Actual  

 FY 2024 
Approved  

 FY 24-25 
Request  

 Initial Fund Designation              1,000,000.00  
                                                  

-          
 Contributions- Water Revenue                                       -    60,000.00  45,000.00  60,000.00  60,000.00  
 Contributions- Sewer Revenue          29,212.00    
 Contributions- Rebate          206,595.00    
 Total Contributions to Fund  -           1,000,000.00  60,000.00  45,000.00  295,807.00  60,000.00  
              
 Contingency Expenses Water                                       -    25,000.00        
 Contingency Expenses Sewer              
 Total Contingency  -                                 -    25,000.00  -    -      
              

 FUND BALANCE TOTAL                           -           1,000,000.00  1,035,000.00  1,045,000.00  1,340,807.00  1,400,807.00  
 

DEPRECIATION FUND 

The depreciation fund was established by the bond ordinance issued for the 2018 Series Bond. This fund is paid 
into by the City and the funds are used to replace components of the water and sewer system that have reached 
the end of their useful life. Annual contributions are $50,000. 

 

DEPRECIATION FUND  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 20 Actual     FY 21 Actual    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 

Approved  
 FY 2024 

Approved  
 FY 2025 

Recommended  

 Initial Fund Designation      600,000.00  -        
 Contributions      -    50,000.00  50,000.00  50,000.00  
 Total Contributions to Fund  -                                   -    600,000.00  50,000.00  50,000.00  50,000.00  
              
 Depreciation -Water        
 Depreciation -Sewer        
        
 Total Depreciation        
              

 FUND BALANCE TOTAL    600,000.00  650,000.00  700,000.00  750,000.00  
 

 

 



54 
 

HTAX FUND 

The Hospitality Fund is designed to raise revenue to fund projects, events or other activities related to promoting 
or generating tourism. The revenue is generated from a 2% tax on prepared food and beverages. Funding 
allocations for FY25 include: Walhalla Performing Arts Center ($60,000), Oktoberfest ($10,000), Oconee History 
Museum ($8,000), Oconee Military Museum ($7,000), City-sponsored events ($50,000), Advertising ($10,000) and 
transfer to General Fund ($162,000). The transfer funds the PRT Director, part of a part-time Rec employee, the 
City Pool, a Christmas tree, new booth tents, etc. 
 

HOSPITATLITY FUND REVENUE (029)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item   FY 22 Actual    FY 2023 Actual  
 FY 2024 

Requested  
 FY 2024 

Approved  
 FY 2025 

Requested  
 FY 2025 

Recommended  

        
 Hospitality Revenue  297,472.89           304,699.92             290,000.00  290,000.00  310,000.00  310,000.00  

       
 HOSPITATLITY FUND EXPENDITURE (029)  

 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item  
 FY 22 
Actual   FY 2023 YTD  

 FY 2024 
Requested  

 FY 2024 
Approved  

 FY 2025 
Requested  

 FY 2025 
Requested  

              
 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages              
 Retirement              
 FICA              
 Workers Comp.              
 Health Insurance              
 Personnel Services              
              
 Other Services              
 Advertising  11,000.00               10,307.12  10,000.00  10,000.00  15,000.00  10,000.00  
 Capital Expenditures        
 Swimming Pool  10,151.61            
 Promotions        
 Chamber of Commerce  763.14       
 WPAC  30,000.00             40,000.00   45,000.00  45,000.00  60,000.00  60,000.00  
 Aid to Non-profits  7,750.00              13,500.00  46,700.00  29,500.00  25,500.00  25,000.00  
 Miscellaneous Expenditures  59,674.27              13,824.59          
 Office Supplies              
 Computer Services              
 Decorations              
 Postage              
 Materials and Supplies              
 Events      20,000.00  20,000.00  75,000.00  50,000.00  
 Dues              
 Main Street Walhalla  56,415.56               85,714.93  72,000.00  45,000.00  75,000.00  -  
 Transfer to General Fund    242,000.00  242,000.00  260,000.00  162,000.00  
 Other Services  175,754.58        163,346.64           435,700.00  391,500.00  510,500.00  307,000.00  
              
 Total Hospitality  175,754.58        163,346.64           435,700.00  391,500.00  510,500.00  307,000.00  
              
 FUND BALANCE TOTAL  720,146.08           861,499.36     759,999.36   762,999.36  



55 

STUMPHOUSE SUPPLEMENTAL SPENDING PLAN 

The following lays out the City Administrator’s recommendations for priorities to fund through the use of 
existing resources. This funding includes the remaining unencumbered appropriation for Stumphouse 
Mountain Park and must be dedicated to this use. 

Project Amount Priority Status Notes 

Ross Mountain Restroom $5,000 High Near Completion 
Trail and Park Signage $5,000 High Near Completion 
Asphalt $20,000 High In-Progress 
Admission Collection $80,000 High Preliminary Manned position 
Dam Maintenance $5,000 High In-Progress 
Well $20,000 Medium Preliminary For potable water 
Camp Host $5,000 Medium Preliminary 
Trading Post $40,000 Low Preliminary 

*These projects have the approval of the PRT Committee



Rest of Page Left Blank Intentionally 



56 
 

ENTERPRISE FUND 
 

 

 

 

 

The following functions fall under Enterprise Fund: Water Crew, Water Plant, Billing and Sewer. Revenues 
are primarily derived from user fees – water and sewer. The Enterprise Fund maintains a 1.2 Debt Service 
Ratio, in accordance with the bond requirements. Water fees include a $3 base rate increase; and sewer 
fees include a $5 inside, $10 outside base rate. The expected increase in revenue from water will be 
used to fund a new three-person crew. The expected increase in revenue from sewer will be used to 
fund the sewer budget. 

 

Enterprise Fund Revenue Reference (Brief description of the revenue categories that yield $100,000 or more.) 

Water Sales ($4,992,500) – The sale of water to City and non-City customers.  

Sewer Fees ($275,000) – The sale of sewer services to City and non-City customers. 

 

  



57 
 

WATER CREW 
The Walhalla Water Division provides safe drinking water to over 7,000 meters both inside and outside City limits. 
The Water Crew is responsible for the maintenance and upkeep of the City’s water system infrastructure: drinking 
water distribution pipes, pump stations, lift stations, tanks, etc.  

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Approved  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $ 676,366.89 $ 834,734.54 $ 798,438.70 $ 1,004,000.00 25.7% 
Materials & Supplies 170,179.71 149,600.00 251,600.00 360,750.00 43.4% 
Other Services 566,600.36 3,875,468.74 1,164,830.00 1,129,500.00 (3.0%) 
Capital 7,394.12 - - 250,000.00 - 

Total $ 1,420,541.08 $ 4,959,801.28 $ 2,214,868.70 $ 2,744,250.00 23.9% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Personnel 

Includes the addition of a three-person crew to provide better customer service and water system maintenance. 
The $3 base rate fee covers the addition of the personnel (salary, benefits and associated expenses). 

Operating 

Increase in gasoline, materials, equipment maintenance, system maintenance, meter/meter maintenance, 
hydrant/hydrant maintenance and lease/contract. 

Allows for continual and needed maintenance of the current system, including the purchase and installation of 
meter upgrades and needed maintenance and upgrades to fire hydrants. 

Accounts for orders placed in the current fiscal year, but not expected to be delivered and paid for until the next 
fiscal year. 

Reduces the transfer to General Fund by $50,000. 

Includes funding for new capital: a hydro-excavator, goose-neck trailer and tractor.    



58 
 

030 WATER CREW (560)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 

Approved  
 FY2024 

Approved  
 6-Month 
Spending  

 Department 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages        460,642.04                 561,442.75       524,333.38    288,121.39       524,333.38        645,500.00  
 Overtime          17,925.54                   25,000.00         20,000.00      16,662.10         20,000.00          25,000.00  
 Retirement          71,816.03                   92,974.92         97,317.30      53,519.95         97,317.30        120,000.00  
 FICA          35,705.89                   42,950.37         40,111.92      22,624.84         40,111.92          50,000.00  
 Workers Comp.          14,400.97                   20,040.90         18,556.74        9,898.89         18,556.74          26,000.00  
 Health Insurance          73,223.46                   89,523.60         95,119.36      50,601.99         95,119.36        134,500.00  
 Christmas Bonus            2,652.96  2,800.00           3,000.00        2,436.41           3,000.00             3,000.00  
 Unemployment              
 Personnel Services        676,366.89  834,732.54       798,438.70   443,865.57  798,438.70        1,004,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies              
 Office Supplies               100.00                         100.00              100.00                   -                100.00                100.00  
 Tires            6,680.48                      7,000.00         10,000.00        2,886.98         15,000.00                        -    
 Gas & Oil          40,694.04                   42,000.00         50,000.00      32,918.97         70,000.00          55,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies          78,640.15                 150,000.00       125,000.00      75,788.64  300,000.00        220,000.00  
 Tools            2,906.36  4,000.00           5,000.00        2,242.86         10,000.00             5,000.00  
 Gravel            9,202.12                   10,000.00         10,000.00        2,119.45         20,000.00          10,000.00  
 Asphalt          30,850.00                   35,000.00         50,000.00      23,200.00  100,000.00          70,000.00  
 Janitorial Supplies                 19.06                         500.00              500.00           197.11           1,000.00                250.00  
 Health Supplies            1,087.50                      1,000.00           1,000.00                   -             1,000.00                400.00  
 Materials and Supplies       170,179.71  249,600.00       251,600.00   139,354.01  517,100.00        360,750.00  
 Other Services              
 Transfer to General Fund                       -    600,000.00       600,000.00                   -                         -          550,000.00  
 Dues & Licenses                       -                           400.00         18,880.00                   -                500.00                500.00  
 Travel                       -                           500.00              500.00                   -                500.00                500.00  
 Training                 75.00                      1,250.00           1,250.00                   -             1,000.00             500.00  
 Vehicle Repairs            7,318.94  9,000.00         12,000.00        5,500.96         20,000.00          10,000.00  
 Electricity             5,085.09  5,000.00           5,000.00        2,635.06           6,000.00             6,000.00  
 Telephone               930.35                         900.00              900.00           483.29              900.00                900.00  
 Natural Gas            1,372.10                      1,800.00           2,000.00           208.75           2,000.00             1,500.00  
 Equipment Main.            9,249.53                   15,000.00         15,000.00        3,978.31         30,000.00          20,000.00  
 Leases & Contracts          82,089.92                   94,450.00         24,000.00      14,073.86         85,000.00          85,000.00  
 Building Main.            6,209.41                   12,000.00         12,000.00        2,993.40         20,000.00          10,000.00  
 Cell Phones            3,716.28                      4,300.00           4,500.00        2,347.89           6,000.00             6,000.00  
 Radio Main.               550.31                         800.00              800.00                   -                800.00                800.00  
 Uniforms          26,757.12                   20,000.00         30,000.00      18,378.60         35,000.00          35,000.00  
 Water Purchased          45,050.50                   50,000.00         70,000.00      39,950.55         70,000.00          60,000.00  
 Advertising               627.05                         750.00              500.00                   -                500.00                500.00  
 Engineering Fees                           500.00         15,000.00                   -             1,500.00             1,500.00  
 Tort/Liability            4,915.20                      3,500.00           5,000.00        5,847.00           5,900.00             6,100.00  
 Property Ins.            5,102.39  5,400.00           6,500.00        7,240.50           7,300.00             7,700.00  
 Vehicle Insurance            8,924.00  8,400.00         10,000.00        9,309.00         10,000.00          10,000.00  
 Computer Services            1,695.90  2,500.00           3,000.00                   -             3,000.00             3,000.00  
 Penalty                   5.29                             -                          -    
 System Maintenance          58,446.34                   60,000.00         80,000.00      41,661.35  200,000.00        100,000.00  
 Depreciation Expense                       -                                   -                         -                           -                          -    
 Meters & Meter Main.        159,974.67  160,000.00       175,000.00    128,518.17  250,000.00        100,000.00  
 Hydrant and HYD Main.                       -                        1,000.00           1,000.00                   -    100,000.00         46 ,000.00  
 Tank Main          38,061.07                   38,000.00         40,000.00      21,928.75         44,000.00          44,000.00  
 Damages                       -                           800.00           1,000.00                   -                         -                          -    
 HWY 11 PUMP          10,882.84                   10,500.00         15,000.00      10,714.92         15,500.00          15,000.00  
 Rocky Knoll Pump            5,504.76  5,000.00           7,500.00        3,023.28           6,500.00             6,500.00  
 Tank Sites            2,584.03                      1,500.00           1,500.00        1,199.36           2,600.00             2,500.00  
 Interest Expense                        7,000.00           7,000.00                   -                         -                          -    
 OSH Fines                           500.00                       -                           -                          -    
 Water Line Construction          81,472.27  2,700,000.00                       -             217.30                       -                          -    
 Transfer to Sewer Fund                     54,718.74                       -                           -                          -    
 Other Services       566,600.36  3,875,468.74   1,164,830.00   320,210.30  924,500.00     1,129,500.00  
 Capital Outlay              
 Capital-Vehicle                       -              
 Capital-Equipment            7,394.12                                 -                         -                250,000.00  
 Capital Outlay            7,394.12                                 -                         -                           -            250,000.00  
 Total Water Crew    1,420,541.08  4,959,801.28   2,214,868.70   903,429.88  2,240,038.70     2,744,250.00  



59 
 

WATER PLANT 
The Walhalla Water Division provides safe drinking water to over 7,000 meters both inside and outside City 
limits. The Water Plant is responsible for the raw water treatment and distribution of drinking water.  

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Approved  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $429,747.97 $ 500,329.97 $ 491,313.00 $ 595,000.00 21.1% 
Materials & Supplies 67,054.19 121,700.00 76,100.00 74,200.00 (2.5%) 
Other Services 1,452,340.06 1,575,500.00 1,555,800.00 1,619,950.00 4.1% 
Capital 47,932.00 120,000.00 - - - 

Total $ 1,997,074.22 $ 2,317,529.97 $ 2,123,213.00 $ 2,286,950.00 7.7% 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Personnel 

None 

Operating 

Increase in electricity, insurance, equipment/machinery and system maintenance to better reflect actual costs 
and to reinvest in the current water system. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



60 
 

030 WATER PLANT (561)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 

Approved  
 FY2024 

Approved  
 6-Month 
Spending  

 Department 
Request  

 FY 24-25 
Recommended  

 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages         265,553.84  340,096.88  316,341.00      165,377.45  316,341.00           392,500.00  
 Overtime           44,395.89  20,000.00  30,000.00       24,495.61  30,000.00              30,000.00  
 Retirement            48,146.87  56,320.04  58,713.00        33,135.87  58,713.00              73,000.00  
 FICA            23,029.87  26,017.41  24,200.00       14,169.10  24,200.00              30,000.00  
 Workers Comp.           11,666.63  13,603.88  12,654.00          7,548.05  12,654.00              16,000.00  
 Health Insurance            35,520.12  42,791.76  47,905.00       21,863.16  47,905.00              52,000.00  
 Christmas Bonus               1,434.75  1,500.00  1,500.00          1,326.46  1,500.00                1,500.00  
 Unemployment                           -                                      -            
 Personnel Services        429,747.97  500,329.97  491,313.00    267,915.70  491,313.00          595,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies              
 Office Supplies                 393.46  400.00  400.00             245.02  400.00                   250.00  
 Tires                           -                   488.68  500.00                             -    
 Gas & Oil              2,697.82   2,000.00  2,000.00              337.39  1,500.00                700.00  
 Tools                  645.33   2,300.00  1,000.00                       -    500.00                   500.00  
 Janitorial Supplies                  987.63   1,000.00  1,000.00                       -    1,000.00                   500.00  
 Health Supplies                  135.00   500.00  200.00                80.00  500.00                   250.00  
 WP Diesel fuel              1,112.05   2,000.00  2,000.00                       -    3,500.00                2,000.00  
 Materials and Supplies           14,555.49   26,000.00  16,000.00        14,880.87  22,000.00             22,000.00  
 WP Chemicals            37,652.37   80,000.00  45,000.00       12,403.95  45,000.00             40,000.00  
 WP NPDES Samples              8,875.04   7,000.00  8,000.00          3,972.20  8,000.00                8,000.00  
 WP Samples                           -     500.00  500.00                       -                             -                               -    
 Material and Services          67,054.19   121,700.00  76,100.00      32,408.11  82,900.00             74,200.00  
 Other Services              
 Dues & Licenses              4,240.00  11,500.00  11,500.00             530.00  1,000.00                1,000.00  
 Travel                           -    500.00  500.00                42.13  300.00                   250.00  
 Training                           -    700.00  500.00                       -    500.00                   500.00  
 Electricity          154,503.21  130,000.00  140,000.00     102,506.85  180,000.00           180,000.00  
 Telephone              1,801.84  1,500.00  1,500.00             962.00  1,600.00                1,750.00  
 Cell Phones                  418.13  500.00  500.00             228.06  500.00                   500.00  
 Advertising                           -      300.00                       -                             -                               -    
 Tort/Liability              3,339.76  4,000.00  2,000.00          2,431.00  2,500.00                3,000.00  
 Property Ins.           25,809.50  30,000.00  30,000.00       35,368.50  36,000.00             40,000.00  
 Vehicle Insurance                           -    800.00                                   -      800.00                             -    
 Computer Services                  427.24  3,500.00  1,000.00          4,841.20  4,000.00                1,000.00  
 Penalty                           -                                   -                               -    
 Grant Match                           -                                   -                               -    
 Miscellaneous (Bond payment)      1,183,000.00  1,200,000.00  1,200,000.00          2,000.00  1,200,000.00        1,200,000.00  
 Interest Expense                           -                                   -                               -    
 Leases & Contracts                           -      500.00                             -                               -    
 DHEC Fees            25,780.00  30,000.00  30,000.00       21,588.00  23,000.00             22,000.00  
 W/P Vehicle Parts & Repairs                    45.70  500.00              168.49  500.00                   250.00  
 W/P Electricity Flood Lights                  358.20  500.00   500.00              217.39  500.00                   500.00  
 W/P Equipment & Machinery                8,177.28                                    -    500.00                       -    25,000.00              15,000.00  
 W/P Leases and Contracts                 122.96  500.00  500.00                       -    3,000.00                3,000.00  
 W/P Building Maintenance           20,329.62  5,000.00  5,000.00          2,344.87  5,000.00                5,000.00  
 W/P Sludge Disposal                           -    1,000.00  1,000.00                       -    1,000.00                1,000.00  
 W/P Systems Maintenance           23,986.62  45,000.00  20,000.00       22,894.01  45,000.00              30,000.00  
 Consulting Services                           -                                       -            5,000.00  5,000.00                3,000.00  
 Contingency                           -    60,000.00  60,000.00                       -    60,000.00             60,000.00  
 Depreciation                           -    50,000.00  50,000.00                       -    50,000.00             50,000.00  
 Other Services    1,452,340.06  1,575,500.00  1,555,800.00    201,122.50  1,645,200.00      1,619,950.00  
 Capital Outlay              
 Capital- Miscellaneous            47,932.00  120,000.00                                   -         49,570.00      
 Capital            47,932.00  120,000.00                                   -        49,570.00                           -                               -    
 Total Water Plant    1,997,074.22  2,317,529.97  2,123,213.00    551,016.31  2,219,413.00      2,286,950.00  



61 
 

WATER BILLING 
The Water Billing Department is responsible for the creation and collection of water and sewer bills (including 
user fees for Sanitation collection), water and sewer taps, work orders, etc.  

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Approved  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $ 130,110.10 $ 161,312.28 $ 397,530.00 $ 179,500.00 (54.8%) 
Materials & Supplies 49,434.42 55,050.00 55,050.00 70,500.00 28.1% 
Other Services 79,550.78 87,739.34 84,000.00 90,000.00 7.1% 
Capital - - - - - 

Total $ 259,095.30 $ 304,101.62 $ 536,580.00 $340,000.00 (36.6%) 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Personnel 

Removes the Administrator, Finance Director/City Clerk and two Facility personnel at ½ the rate and places the 
full cost in the Administration budget and Streets & Facilities, respectively. 

Moves Assistant to Administrator position’s cost from Billing to the Administration’s budget.  

Maintains the current three full-time positions with the removal of business licensing, HTAX, ATAX, permit 
payments, food truck payments, facility rentals, Stumphouse annual passes, etc., thereby reducing their 
workload.  

Operating 

Increase in certain line items to accurately reflect expenses, such as postage. 

  



62 
 

030 WATER BILLING (563)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 

Approved  
 FY2024 

Approved  
 6-Month  
Spending  

 
Department 

Request  
 FY 24-25 

Recommended  
 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages          89,062.14  107,377.92                 282,619.00       232,767.07  118,000.00           118,000.00  
 Overtime             1,108.87  1,500.00                       1,000.00           1,784.26  1,000.00                1,000.00  
 Retirement          14,006.32  17,781.78                    52,454.00        42,845.71        21,000.00             21,500.00  
 FICA            6,466.78  8,214.41                    21,620.00         17,933.23          9,000.00                9,500.00  
 Workers Comp.                211.95  246.97                      2,992.00           1,503.20  275.00                   500.00  
 Health Insurance          18,983.32  25,891.20                    35,345.00        30,564.98        26,500.00              28,500.00  
 Christmas Bonus                 270.72  300.00                       1,500.00              970.72  750.00                   500.00  
 Unemployment                          -              
 Personnel Services       130,110.10  161,312.28                 397,530.00    328,369.17     176,525.00          179,500.00  
              
 Materials and Supplies              
 Office Supplies            3,198.06  4,000.00                      4,000.00          2,010.64  4,000.00                4,000.00  
 Postage          42,927.63  45,000.00                    45,000.00        35,637.29  60,000.00             60,000.00  
 Gasoline & Oil                          -    -                              -                               -    
 Materials and Supplies             1,145.37  4,000.00                      4,000.00          1,089.91  4,000.00                4,000.00  
 Janitorial Supplies             2,138.36  2,000.00                      2,000.00           1,758.72          2,500.00                2,500.00  
 Health Supplies                  25.00  50.00                            50.00                       -                100.00                             -    
 Materials and Supplies        49,434.42  55,050.00                   55,050.00      40,496.56       70,600.00             70,500.00  
              
 Other Services              
 Surety Bonds                420.00  420.00                          500.00                       -                500.00                   500.00  
 Dues & Licenses             1,041.00  1,000.00                       1,000.00              272.00  1,000.00                1,000.00  
 Travel                200.64  500.00                          500.00                       -    1,000.00                   500.00  
 Training                          -    1,500.00                       1,500.00                       -    2,000.00                    300.00  
 Electricity            5,565.53  6,000.00                      6,000.00          7,065.90  12,000.00             12,000.00  
 Telephone             1,280.79  1,500.00                                    -                761.98  2,000.00               2,000.00  
 Natural Gas                          -    -                              -                               -    
 Equipment Main.             2,841.71  2,500.00                      2,500.00          2,065.52           3,100.00                2,500.00  
 Lease & Service Contracts            1,166.00  -                              -                               -    
 Building Main.             5,927.00  8,000.00                      8,000.00          4,929.52  8,000.00                7,200.00  
 Cellular Phone                          -                                -                               -    
 Radio Maintenance & Repairs                          -    2,319.34                            -                               -    
 Uniforms                          -                                -                               -    
 Legal Fees                          -                                -                               -    
 Audit Fees          35,995.00  40,000.00                    40,000.00        32,990.00        35,000.00              35,000.00  
 Tort/Liability             2,141.62  2,500.00                      2,500.00              746.00  1,000.00                2,000.00  
 Property Ins.             1,127.50  1,500.00                       1,500.00          1,548.50  1,600.00               2,000.00  
 Vehicle Insurance                          -                                -                               -    
 Computer Services          21,843.99  20,000.00                    20,000.00        22,610.60  25,000.00             25,000.00  
 Depreciation Expense                          -    -                              -                               -    
 Total Other Services         79,550.78  87,739.34                   84,000.00       72,990.02       92,200.00            90,000.00  
              
 Capital Outlay              
 Capital-Miscellaneous    -            
 Captial                          -    -                                      -                            -                               -    
              
 Total Water Billing       259,095.30  304,101.62  536,580.00    441,855.75     339,325.00          340,000.00  

 

 

 

 



63 
 

SEWER 
The Walhalla Sewer Department is responsible for the wastewater collection system.  

Total Expenditures 

 

 Actual  
FY22 

Actual  
FY23 

Budgeted  
FY24 

Administrator 
Recommended FY25 

Change from 
FY24 

Personnel $ 57,247.76 $ 56,953.69 $ 60,055.00 $ 83,750.00 39.5% 
Materials & Supplies  868,118.62 1,515,075.00 132,692.00 121,500.00 (8.4%) 
Other Services - - - - - 
Capital - - - - - 

Total $ 925,366.38 $ 1,572,028.69 $ 192,747.00 $ 205,250.00 (6.5%) 
 

Notable Changes from the FY23-24 Budget 

Personnel 

None 

Operating 

Includes increase in materials, asphalt and system maintenance for current system upkeep and repairs. 

 

  



64 
 

35 SEWER (565)  
 2024-2025 Budget  

 Item    FY 22 Actual  
 FY 2023 

Approved  
 FY2024 

Approved  
 6-Month  
Spending  

 
Department 

Request  
 FY 24-25 

Recommended  
 Personnel Services              
 Salaries Wages          37,204.77  36,773.57      38,043.00      26,144.72      38,043.00          50,000.00  
 Overtime            3,839.43  3,500.00        4,500.00                   -          4,500.00             2,000.00  
 Retirement            5,951.25  6,089.70        7,061.00        4,852.45        7,061.00             9,200.00  
 FICA            3,132.63  2,813.18        2,910.00        1,985.11        2,910.00             3,800.00  
 Workers Comp.            1,441.77  1,470.92        1,522.00        1,045.80        1,522.00             2,000.00  
 Health Insurance            5,542.56  6,166.32        5,869.00        3,345.87        5,869.00          16,500.00  
 Christmas Bonus               135.35  140.00           150.00           243.64           150.00                250.00  
 Unemployment                       -              
 Personnel Services          57,247.76  56,953.69      60,055.00      37,617.59      60,055.00          83,750.00  
              
 Materials and Supplies              
 Office Supplies                       -                            -                          -    
 Postage                       -                            -                          -    
 Tires            3,112.36  4,000.00        6,000.00           823.65      10,000.00             5,000.00  
 Gas & Oil                       -    5,000.00        5,000.00                   -        10,000.00             2,500.00  
 Materials and Supplies          12,342.72  20,000.00      20,000.00        1,793.52    100,000.00          25,000.00  
 Tools            1,356.96  5,000.00        5,000.00           173.34      10,000.00             5,000.00  
 Gravel & Stone            1,050.00  7,000.00        7,000.00                   -        20,000.00             8,000.00  
 Asphalt                       -    9,000.00        9,000.00                   -        50,000.00          10,000.00  
 Health Supplies                       -                       -                     -                      -                          -    
 Dues & Licenses                       -                       -                     -                      -                          -    
 Travel                       -                       -                     -                      -                          -    
 Training                       -                       -                     -                      -                          -    
 Vehicle Parts & Repairs            1,839.30  5,000.00        5,000.00           856.03      20,000.00             5,000.00  
 Electricity            4,550.38  5,600.00        5,680.00        2,315.84        5,500.00             5,500.00  
 Telephone                       -                         -                      -                          -    
 Equipment Maintenance            8,005.81  10,000.00      15,000.00        8,455.27      20,000.00          15,000.00  
 Leases & Service Contracts          12,359.54                       -                      -                          -    
 Uniforms                         -                      -                          -    
 Advertising                         -                      -                          -    
 Legal Fees                         -                      -                          -    
 Audit Fees                         -                      -                          -    
 Tort Liability Insurance               459.00  800.00           800.00           488.00           500.00                500.00  
 Property Insurance                         -                      -                          -    
 Vehicle Insurance                         -                      -                          -    
 Miscellaneous Expense                         -                      -                          -    
 System Maintenance          16,610.10  25,000.00      25,000.00      12,128.74      50,000.00          40,000.00  
 Electricity-Pump                         -                      -      
 Depreciation Expense                         -                      -                          -    
 Sewer Transfer to Other Funds          29,212.00                   -                      -                          -    
 Sewer Reimbursement                         -                      -                          -    
 Sewer Treatment Charges        803,932.45  1,130,580.00                   -        94,215.00                    -                          -    
 County Sewer Fees                         -                      -                          -    
 New Sewer Line Construction            2,500.00  288,095.00                     -                      -                          -    
 Materials and Supplies       868,118.62  1,515,075.00   132,692.00   121,249.39    296,000.00        121,500.00  
              
 Capital Outlay              
 Capital-Vehicle                       -              
 Capital-Equipment                       -             
 Capital-Miscellaneous                       -             
 Capital Outlay                       -                                     -                     -                        -     
              
 Total Sewer       925,366.38  1,572,028.69   192,747.00   158,866.98    356,055.00        205,250.00  

 



Rest of Page Left Blank Intentionally 



65 
 

Appendices  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rest of Page Left Blank Intentionally   



66 
 

SCHEDULE OF FEES 
General Fund FY 22 FY 23 FY 24 FY 25 

 
Planning and Zoning 
Appeals to BZA and CBA $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 
Demolition $35.00 $35.00 $50.00 $50.00 
Fence $35.00 $35.00 $50.00 Eliminate 
Fire Pit Permit NA NA $50.00 $50.00 
Fire Pit Permit, If Fire Dept Called NA NA $100.00 $100.00 
Food Vendor Permit, One Day $20 $20 $25 $50 
Food Vendor Permit, Annual In County $120 $120 $150 $200 
Food Vendor Permit, Annual Out of 
County 

$240 $240 $300 $350 

Land Disturbance Permit (5,000 – 
20,000 sq ft) 

NA NA $50 $50 

Land Disturbance Permit (20,000 – 
43,560 sq ft) 

NA NA $150 $150 

Land Disturbance Permit (over 1 acre) NA NA $200/acre $200/acre 
Manufactured Home NA NA $250 $250 
Moving Permit NA NA $100 $100 
No show/Failure to Reschedule NA NA $50 $50 
Plan Review NA NA 50% of Building 

Permit 
50% of Building 
Permit 

Reinspection Fee NA NA $50 $50 
Rezoning NA NA $100 $100 
Sign Permit $35 $35 $50 $50 
Site Plan Review NA NA $250 $250 
Special Event $100 $100 $100 $100 
Summary Plat (5 lots or less) NA NA $50 $50 
Minor Subdivision (6 to 10 lots) NA NA $100 $100 
Major Subdivision (over 10 lots) NA NA $250 $250 
Subdivision Final NA NA $100 $100 
Zoning Permit $35 $35 $50 $50 
 
Building Permits 
Total Valuation* (For all construction: Building, Electrical, Plumbing, HVAC, Fire Suppression) *Value shall be based on current ICC construction cost table or 

contract amount. 
Valuation does not include land value, site improvements, furnishings or non-fixed equipment. 

Under $1,000 

Administered by Oconee County 

No building permit 
required 

No building permit 
required 

$1,000 - $9,999.99 $50 (minimum fee) $50 (minimum fee) 

$10,000 to $49,999.99 

$50 for the first $10,000 
plus $5 for each 
additional $1,000 or 
fraction thereof 

$50 for the first $10,000 
plus $5 for each  
additional $1,000 or 
fraction thereof 

$50,000 to $99,999.99 

$250 for the first 
$50,000 plus $4 for 
each additional $1,000 
or fraction thereof 

$250 for the first 
$50,000 plus $4 for 
each additional $1,000 
or fraction thereof 

$100,000 to $499,999.99 

$450 for the first 
$100,000 plus $3 for 
each additional $1,000 
or fraction thereof 

$450 for the first 
$100,000 plus $3 for 
each additional $1,000 
or fraction thereof 

$500,000 or above 

$1,650 for the first 
$500,000 plus $2 for 
each additional $1,000 
or fraction thereof 

$1,650 for the first 
$500,000 plus $2 for 
each additional $1,000 
or fraction thereof 

If any permit is not obtained prior to commencement of work the fee is doubled. 
     
     
     



67 
 

     
 
Park & Recreation Fees 
Inside City Registration $30 $30 $30 $5 
Outside City Registration $70 $70 $70 $40 
Uniform Fees Included Included Included $40 
City Gym Rental $25/hour $25/hour $35/hour $50/hour 
Banquet Hall $25/hour $25/hour $35/hour $50/hour 
Memorial Field $25/hour $25/hour $50/hour $50/hour 
Tunnel Pavilion (half day) $75 $75 $50 $50 
Tunnel Pavilion (all day) $100 $100 $100 $100 
Old St John Meeting House (4 hours) $200 $200 $200 $250 
Old St John Meeting House (8 hours) $400 $400 $400 $500 
Old St John Meeting House (8 AM to 11 
PM) 

$600 $600 $600 $750 

Depot (2 hours) - - - $150 
Depot (4 hours) $200 $200 $200 $250 
Depot (8 hours) $400 $400 $400 $500 
Depot (8 AM to 11 PM) $600 $600 $600 $1,000 
Both OSJ and Depot (weekend) $1,300 $1,300 $1,300 $1,500 
Stumphouse Daily Pass (car) $5 $5 $5 $5 
Stumphouse Daily Pass (passenger van) - - - $10 
Stumphouse Annual Pass (Oconee 
Resident) 

$25 $25 $25 $50 

Stumphouse Annual Pass (Non-Oconee 
Resident) 

$35 $35 $35 $60 

 
Sanitation 
6 yard Inside $28 $28 $30.24 $30 
6 yard Outside $28 $28 $30.24 $35 
8 yard Inside $22 $22 $23.76 $24 
8 yard Outside $31.25 $31.25 $33.75 $35 
Residential Roll Cart Inside $16.50 $16.50 $17.82 $18 
Residential Roll Cart Outside $25.50 $25.50 $27.54 $28 
6 yard Replacement $756 $756 $816.48 $825 
8 yard Replacement $1,680 $1,680 $1,814.40 $1,825 
Commercial Roll Cart – Weekly $28 $28 $30.24 $30 
Commercial Roll Cart – 2X Week $33 $33 $35.64 $35 
Commercial Roll - Cart – 3X Week $38 $38 $41.04 $40 
Commercial Roll Cart – 4X Week $43 $43 $46.44 $45 
Commercial Roll Cart – 5X Week $48 $48 $51.84 $50 
Brush Pick Up over 5 yard/moth $100 $100 $100 $100 
     
 
 

    

     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     



68 
 

     
     
 
Enterprise Fund 

 
FY 24 

 
FY 24 

 
FY 25 

 
FY 25 

 
Water by Rate Class 

 
Base Rate 

 
Per 1,000 gal 

 
Base Rate 

 
Per 1,000 gal 

Apartment, Residential, Business Inside $18 $3.31 $21 $3.30 
Apartment, Residential, Business Outside $35 $5.10 $38 $5.10 
Industrial Inside $49.39 $1.59 $52.50 $1.60 
Industrial Outside $80 $2.50 $83 $2.50 
Farm (first 40,000 gal) $87 $0 $87 $0 
Farm (per 1,000 gal after 40,000 gal) $0 $2.07 $0 $2.07 
Municipal (first 25,000 gal) $100 $0 $100 $0 
Municipal (per 1,000 after 25,000 gal) $0 $2.25 $0 $2.25 
Sprinkler (Inside and Outside per 100 sq ft) $0 $0.10 $0 $0.10 
 
Tap Fees 
¾” Meter Inside $1,944 

 
$4,000 

 

¾” Meter Outside $2,052 
 

$2,500 
 

1” Meter Inside $2,376 
 

$4,500 
 

1” Meter Outside $2,376 
 

$3,000 
 

 
Connection Fee 

 
FY 22 (No SSN) 

 
FY 23 (No SSN) 

 
FY 24 (No SSN) 

 
FY 25 (No SSN) 

Rental Units, ¾” and 1” $150 ($450) $150 ($450) $150 ($450) $150 ($450) 
¾” and 1” $70 ($450) $70 ($450) $70 ($450) $70 ($450) 
1 ½” $100 ($450) $100 ($450) $100 ($450) $100 ($450) 
2” $140 ($450) $140 ($450) $140 ($450) $140 ($450) 
3” $380 ($760) $380 ($760) $380 ($760) $380 ($760) 
4” or larger $600 ($1,200) $600 ($1,200) $600 ($1,200) $600 ($1,200) 
Administrative Fee $15 $15 $15 $15 
 
Sewer by Rate FY22 FY23 

FY24 
Base, Per 1,000 gal 

FY25 
Base, Per 1,000 gal 

Apartment Inside City $9.28 $6.63 $0; $1.40 $5, $1.40 
Apartment Outside City $9.28 $6.63 $0; $1.40 $10; $1.40 
Residential Inside City $6.63 $6.63 $0; $1.40 $5, $1.40 
Residential Outside City $6.63 $9.28 $0; $1.40 $10; $1.40 
Business Inside City $9.28 $9.28 $0; $1.40 $5, $1.40 
Business Outside City $9.28 $9.28 $0; $1.40 $10; $1.40 
Industrial Inside City $13.26 $8.29 $0; $1.40 $5, $1.40 
Industrial Outside City $13.26 $8.29 $0; $1.40 $10; $1.40 
Additional Sewer Rates OJRSA   OJRSA Fees OJRSA Fees 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



69 
 

NOTES TO THE FEE SCHEDULE 

1. Eliminates the Fence Permit fee. Structural fencing that includes masonry or electricity will continue to require a 
zoning and building permit. 

2. Increase in Food Vendor permit, both daily and annual. 
3. Removes chicken and short-term rental permit fee reference, as the ordinances have not been adopted. 
4. No changes in zoning or building permit fees. 
5. City Council approved the adjustment to the youth sport registration fees in Spring 2024 to account for the 

increase in uniform costs. 
6. Rental fees increase to account for maintenance and facility investment. 
7. Addition of a 2-hour time slot for the Depot. 
8. Civic organizations within the City limits may apply for use of the Depot for regular meetings through the City 

Administrator and receive a reduced cost. This will not apply for the use of the Depot for fund-raising/revenue 
producing activities (i.e. galas, camps, bingo, etc.) Organizations must request this reduction. Every effort will be 
made to accommodate the organization, but reservations must be approved prior to use. 

9. Increase in Stumphouse Mountain Park annual pass. Walhalla City residents continue to be eligible for a free 
annual pass at City offices. 

10. Addition of passenger van option (or high occupancy vehicle).  
11. Adjusts sanitation fees to round number and replacement costs to reflect price increases. 
12. Increase in water base rate by $3 for the addition of a 3-person water crew. No changes in the per 1,000 gal rates. 
13. Tap fees adjusted to reflect the price increase in materials. 
14. No changes in connection fees. 
15. Addition of a sewer base rate ($5 for city customers, $10 for out of city customers) to fund sewer department and 

sewer line upgrades. 



 

Page 1 of 6 
 

 
Helping Ensure a Safer Built Environment 

 
 

AGREEMENT FOR SOUTH CAROLINA CODE COMPLIANCE SERVICES 
 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this  10th day of May , 2024, but effective as of July 1st, 2024, 

hereinafter referred to as the effective date, by and between CC&I Services, LLC a limited liability corporation 
whose office address is 4795 South Church Street Extension, Suite 2, Roebuck, South Carolina 29376, 
hereinafter referred to as “CC&I”, and City of Walhalla, South Carolina a duly organized and validly existing 
body politic of the State of South Carolina, hereinafter sometimes referred to as “City”. 
 

Witnesseth: 
WHEREAS, City has the need for a qualified firm to provide building department services, construction 

inspection services, City ordinance compliance, building official services, fire marshal services and plan review 
services, hereinafter referred to as Services, to City on an as needed/requested/required basis; and  

WHEREAS, CC&I has represented to City that it has the qualifications, experience, expertise, and 
personnel to timely perform the Services for the City, and has shown a desire to do so by attending a meeting 
on April 23rd,2024 with the City; and 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto now wish to enter into an agreement whereby CC&I will perform the 
Services for City on all the terms and conditions as hereinafter set out. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

1. General Scope of Services 
a. CC&I will provide a building department to perform all required services to the public within the 

needs of providing permits, inspections, plan review and building official services.  All inspectors 
and building officials shall be licensed, as so required, by the State of South Carolina, by the 
South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulations (“LLR”) to perform both 
commercial and residential building inspections, building official services and plan review. 

b. All Inspection Services hereunder shall be performed during normal City working hours of 8:00 
a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, except for CC&I observed holidays.  Weekend and 
emergency services and/or special request are available with prior consulting with CC&I and 
City. 

c. All services performed hereunder shall be performed per the requirements of the City of 
Walhalla Code, hereinafter referred to as the City Code, and per any applicable State of South 
Carolina and/or federal requirements. 

d. It is anticipated that, in the performance of Services hereunder, the Inspectors shall follow the 
below schedule: 

 
 
 



 

Page 2 of 6 
 

1. On-site within the City to provide required construction inspection Services 
during the hours of City’s operation.   

2. Inspection Services will be provided for all requested inspections scheduled prior 
to 4:00 p.m. the next business day. 

3. A signed policy for all other services and fee schedules will be reviewed and 
approved with the City Mayor, Administrator/Manager or other representative 
officially appointed by the City. 
 

2. Special Representations by CC&I 
a. CC&I is qualified to provide to perform the Services and is licensed/permitted to do so, as 

applicable, by all public entities having jurisdiction over CC&I and/or the Inspection Services. 
b. CC&I shall maintain all necessary licenses, permits or other authorizations necessary to provide 

the Inspection Services until CC&I’s duties hereunder have been fully satisfied; and CC&I shall 
ensure that the Inspector maintain all necessary qualifications to perform the Inspection 
Services. 

c. CC&I assumes full responsibility to City for the improper acts and omissions of its employees, 
sub-contractors, or others, if any, employed or retained by CC&I in connection with the 
Inspection Services. 
 

3. Responsibilities of City 
City will provide CC&I’s Inspectors access to City facilities and/or information that is reasonably 
necessary for the performance of the Inspection Services. 
 

4. Term of Agreement 
This Agreement shall commence on July 1st, 2024, and shall continue through, 
July 1st, 2027, unless earlier terminated by the parties hereto as elsewhere set out herein, provided 
that the parties hereto may extend said Inspection Services by written agreement entered into prior to 
the termination of this Agreement. 
 

5. Termination of Agreement 
Either party may terminate this Agreement, or any part of the Agreement upon thirty (30) days written 
notice with or without cause to the other party hereto.  Termination of this Agreement shall not relieve 
either party of any obligation incurred one to the other prior to said termination, and City shall pay 
CC&I for all Inspection Services rendered prior to said termination. 
 

6. Compensation 
a. CC&I will collect all fees for permitting, plan review and after hour service fees within its office 

or website for Services.  CC&I will provide to the City 12% of all collected fees paid for by 
company check on a calendar monthly schedule, made payable by the 20th of the month that 
ended the previous month. 

b. CC&I shall keep a record of all transactions to include date, type of fee collected and total of 
fee.  These records will be made available to the City with each monthly payment and at any 
time requested by the City.  City will have readable access to the permitting software.  

c. CC&I will provide Fire Marshal Services to conduct annual inspections of commercial businesses 
for a fee of $75.00 per hour.  This service will be conducted by request through a coordinated 
schedule from the City.   



 

Page 3 of 6 
 

d. CC&I will provide Code/Ordinance enforcement services for the City on a requested bases for a 
fee of $75.00 per hour.  This service will be conducted by request from the City. 
 

7. Special Provisions   
All documents, data and/or information provided by City to CC&I hereunder, and all information, data, 
and documentation generated by CC&I for City hereunder, shall be treated as confidential, and CC&I 
shall not divulge same to third parties without the express, written permission of City, unless disclosure 
is compelled by a court of competent jurisdiction, or by another governmental entity having 
competent jurisdiction to compel such disclosure. 
 

8. Obligation to Comply with Laws and Obtain Certificates and/or Licenses 
CC&I shall comply with all applicable federal, state, county, and City laws and ordinances in the 
performance of its obligations, hereunder. 
 

9. Independent Contractor 
CC&I shall at all times be considered an independent contractor hereunder, and neither CC&I nor its 
employees shall, under any circumstances, be considered employees of City.  As CC&I is an 
independent contractor, the City shall have no liability or responsibility for any direct payments of any 
salaries, wages, payroll taxes, or any other forms or types of compensation or benefits to any 
personnel performing services for the City under this Agreement.  CC&I shall be solely responsible for 
all compensation, benefits, insurance and employment-related rights of any person providing 
Inspection Services hereunder during the course of or arising or accruing as a result of any 
employment, whether past or present, with CC&I, as well as all legal costs including attorney’s fees 
incurred in the defense of any conflict or legal action resulting from such employment or related to the 
corporate amenities of such employment.  
 

10. Insurance 
CC&I shall provide and maintain insurance for the duration of this Agreement against any and all claims 
for injuries to persons or damages to property which may in any way arise from, or in connection with, 
the performance of the work hereunder by CC&I, its agents, contractors, representatives, or 
employees.  Such insurance shall be the minimum amounts: 
Minimum Coverages and Limits: 

a. Commercial General Liability   $1,000,000 per occurrence 
b. General Aggregate     $2,000,0000 
c. Comprehensive Automobile Liability  $1,000,000 per occurrence 
d. Workers Compensation   Statutory Limits 
e. Employers Liability    $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000 

Certificate showing proof such insurance policy shall be submitted to City prior to commencement of 
services under this Agreement.  Further, it shall be affirmative obligation upon CC&I to advise City 
within two days of the cancellation of substantive change of any insurance policy set out herein.   
The General Liability policy shall list City as an additional insured.  Such coverage shall be primary to 
the extent of CC&I’s negligence and/or willful misconduct and shall apply separately to each insured 
against whom claim is made or suite is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s 
liability. 



 

Page 4 of 6 
 

CC&I shall maintain Workers’ Compensation Insurance for all of their respective employees who are in 
any way connected with the performance under this Agreement.  Such insurance shall comply with all 
applicable state laws. 
CC&I shall cause each of its contractors preforming services hereunder, if any, to purchase and 
maintain insurance of the type specified herein, unless CC&I’s insurance provides coverage on behalf of 
each contractor. 
 

11. Third Party Reliance 
This Agreement is intended for the mutual benefit of the parties hereto and no third-party rights are 
intended or implied. 
 

12. Ownership of Documents 
The City shall retain ownership of all work product and deliverables created by CC&I pursuant to the 
Agreement.   All records, documents, notes, data, and other materials required for or resulting from 
the performance of the Services hereunder shall not be used by CC&I for any other purpose other than 
the performance of the Services hereunder with the express prior written consent of City.  All such 
records, documents, notes, data and other materials shall become the exclusive property of the City 
when CC&I has been compensated for the same as set forth herein, and the City shall thereafter retain 
sole and exclusive rights to receive and use such materials in such manner and for such purposes as 
determined by it.  If this Agreement expires or is terminated for any reason, all records, documents, 
notes, date and other materials maintained or stored on CC&I’s secure server pertaining to the City will 
be exported into a file and become property of the City. 
The City and its duly authorized representatives shall have access to any books, documents, papers and 
records of CC&I that are related to the Agreement for the purposes of audit or examination, other than 
CC&I’s financial records, and may make excerpts and transcriptions of the same. 
 

13. Notices 
All notices required hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if either 
hand delivered or mailed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, addressed to that party to 
whom intended at the address provided below or at such other address as such party shall hereinafter 
designate to the other party in writing: 
CC&I:   CC&I Services, LLC 
   Attn: E. Wayne Willis, MCP, CBO, CFCO 
   4795 S. Church St Ext, Suite2 
   Roebuck, SC 29376 
 
City:   City of Walhalla 

    Attn: Celia Myers, City Administrator  
    206 N Church St. 
    Walhalla, SC 29691 

 
Any notice so mailed shall be deemed to have been given and received by the party to whom 
addressed on the third (3rd) day after the date said notice was properly deposited in the mail. 
 
 
 



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

14. Assignment 
The rights and obligations herein shall not be assigned by either party, in whole or in part, without the 
prior written consent of the other party. 
 

15. Entire Agreement 
The City shall be allowed to rely upon the representatives of the CC&I as set out in the in the Proposal 
Letter.  With the exception of the foregoing, this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 
the parties hereto and may not be modified or amended except in writing signed by all parties hereto.  
In the case of any conflict between the terms and conditions of the Proposal Letter and this 
Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall control. 
 

16. Severability  
If any part of the or provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable under applicable law, 
such invalidity or unenforceability shall not in any way affect the validity or enforceability of the 
remaining parts and provisions of this Agreement. 
 

17. Nonwaiver 
The waiver by CC&I or the City of a breach of this Agreement shall not operate as a waiver of any 
subsequent breach, and no delay in acting with regard to any breach of this Agreement shall be 
construed to be a waiver of the breach. 
 

18. Employee Verification per the South Carolina Illegal Immigration Reform Act 
By entering into this Agreement, CC&I hereby certifies to the City that CC&I will verify the employment 
status of any new employees and require any subcontractors or sub-subcontractors performing 
services hereunder to verify any new employee’s status, per the terms of the South Carolina Illegal 
Immigration Reform Act, and as set out in Title 41, Chapter 8 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 
1976. 
 

19. SOLICIATION/ HIRING OF CONSULTANT’S EMPLOYEES  
During the term of this Agreement and for one year thereafter, City shall not solicit, recruit or hire, or 
attempt to solicit, recruit or hire, any employee or former employee of CC&I who provided services to 
City pursuant to this Agreement the Inspector, or who interacted with City in connection with the 
provision of such services (including but not limited to supervisors or managers of CC&I, customer 
relations personnel, accounting personnel, and other support  personnel of CC&I.  The parties agree 
that this provision is reasonable and necessary in order to preserve and protect CC&I’s trade secrets 
and other confidential information, its investment in the training of its employees, the stability of its 
workforce, and its ability to provide competitive building department programs in this market.  If any 
provision of this section is found by a court or arbitrator to be overly broad, unreasonable in scope or 
otherwise unenforceable, the parties agree that such court or arbitrator shall modify such provision to 
the minimum extent necessary to render this section enforceable. 
 

20. GOVERNING LAW  
This Agreement and the rights, obligations, and remedies of the parties hereto, shall in all respects by 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of South Carolina, and venue for 
the resolution of all disputes regarding the terms of this Agreement or the performance thereunder, 
whether in law or in equity, shall be exclusively in the courts of the state of South Carolina. 



 

Page 6 of 6 
 

21. Indemnification 
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, CC&I shall indemnify and hold City, its employees, 
officers, officials, contractors, agents, and/or representatives, free and harmless from and against any 
and all liabilities, losses, claims, demands, suits, judgements, causes of action and/or expenses of any 
kind or nature resulting from property damage and/or personal injury, including death, to the extent 
resulting from or arising out of the negligence and/or willful misconduct of CC&I, its employees, 
subcontractors, or representatives under this Agreement.  Such losses, labilities, expenses, damages 
and/or claims shall include, but not limited to, civil or criminal fines or penalties, a taking, whether 
direct, indirect or inverse, or for loss of use and/or services, personal injury, death, libel, and slander 
through all levels of appeals.  Should City be named in any suit, action or claim under the terms hereof, 
then CC&I shall appear to the extent obligated herein and defend City for which the City shall always 
have the option to appear and defend such action or claim on its own behalf.  The foregoing indemnity 
shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  

                                                                                                             
22. Successors and Assigns 

The rights and obligations herein shall insure to, and be binding upon, the successors and assigns of the 
parties hereto. 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly authorized representatives of the parties have executed this 
Agreement as of the date first written. 
 

 CITY OF WALHALLA     CC&I  
  

__________________ ____ Date________  ______________________ Date _______  
______________________    E. Wayne Willis  
Title__________________    CEO 
 
 
 
___________________________ Date________  ______________________ Date________ 
Name _______________________   Jennifer Willis 
Position_______________________   CFO, Primary Principal 
 
WITNESS      WITNESS 
 
_______________________ Date________  ______________________ Date________ 
 

   
   
 



 

                                                   Helping Ensure a Safer Built Environment 
 
         On-boarding process guide 
 

1. Review proposed contract for amendments and clarification of services provided. 
2. Once the contract has been agreed upon with a projected start date, please sign, and 

return to:  wwillis@cciservicesllc.com and dPhipps@cciservicesllc.com.  
3. CC&I will sign the contract and return it to your jurisdiction. 
4. Please contact your county GIS for a parcel file of your jurisdiction.  This is needed to 

issue permits, property lines and site visits.  You will need this for Zoning if not already 
have it.  Please send to CC&I Services Attn: Wayne Willis and Donny Phipps.  

5. Please provide a construction permit fee that is currently being used, either in your 
jurisdiction, county or third party.  

6. Jurisdictions are to cancel all existing contracts with other third parties and/or a county 
jurisdiction! 

7. Confirm this with CC&I, Wilis and Phipps through e’mails with the cancellation date(s)!  
8. Check with your attorney to be sure SC State Building Codes have been approved and/or 

codified. 
9. CC&I will provide the Building Department’s iWorq software for the town/city’s use for 

their zoning and communication on permits and approvals. 
10. CC&I will provide the Building Department link for the jurisdiction for contractors and 

homeowners to obtain permits, and the jurisdiction to have access. 
11. CC&I will be in contact with the Mayor/Manager/Clerk to check on status and updates 

to confirm start date. 
 
Sincerely, 
  

Donny Phipps 

Donny Phipps, C.B.O., CFM,  
Business Development Manager/Building Official  
864-586-6111-O - 803-413-6414-C  

mailto:wwillis@cciservicesllc.com
mailto:dPhipps@cciservicesllc.com


Item XII. B. PEBA Addendum Background 

 

On March 6, 2024, the PEBA Board of Directors voted unanimously to amend the definition of 
“Employee” for the purposes of eligibility to participate in the state insurance benefits program. This 
amendment allows councils of participating counties and municipalities to exercise a one-time, 
irrevocable option to exclude their councilmembers from the definition of “Employee.” 

Councils of currently participating counties and municipalities must submit an addendum to their 
participation resolution to PEBA no later than July 1, 2024, indicating whether their councilmembers 
will remain eligible Employees in the state insurance benefits program or if they will be excluded. 

It is important to understand: 

·     This election applies to all members of the council and is irrevocable for the duration of the county or 
municipality’s period of coverage in the state insurance benefits program. 

·     This election does not affect insurance eligibility for any other employees of the county or 
municipality other than councilmembers and does not apply to councilmembers’ participation in the 
South Carolina Retirement Systems. 

·     If the council elects to exclude councilmembers from coverage, currently enrolled councilmembers 
will lose all coverage under the state insurance benefits program on the effective date of the 
addendum. 

·     Any loss of coverage due to this election is not a Qualifying Event under COBRA, and 
councilmembers who lose coverage will not be offered or eligible to enroll in COBRA coverage. 

Providers must submit an addendum to PEBA via email no later than July 1, 2024. 







) 
) 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF OCONEE ) 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
FOR MOSQUITO SPRAYING 

WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla provideds mosquito spraying services to the City of Walhalla 
and 

WHEREAS, the City of Westminster desires that the City of Walhalla enter into an agreement 
to provide mosquito spraying services to the City of Westminster; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla has the capability and capacity to provide these services to the 
City of Westminster; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla and the City of Westminster desire to formalize 
the Agreement for Mosquito Spraying services (hereinafter .. Agreement") between the cities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for the mutual promises hereinbelow, the City of Walhalla and the 
City of Westminster agree as follows: 

1. The City of Walhalla will provide mosquito spraying services. Provided that, however, 
the enumerated sprayings may be suspended or discontinued in the event that: (a) it is 
raining, (b) there are people close to the area in which the City of Walhalla's equipment 
is spraying, requiring that the spraying mechanisms be disabled or turned off until the 
equipment is a safe distance from any individuals, ( c) the City of Walhalla has been 
provided with proper notice of a beehive in the area, or (d) if the City of Walhalla's 
equipment is inoperable or otherwise unfit for use on the day in question. The City of 
Walhalla will notify the City of Westminster of any cancellation, suspension, or 
discontinuation of spraying services, other than those relating (b) and
(c) above, and provide alternate dates for application as is necessary and 
appropriate.

2. The City of Walhalla will ensure that the individual operating the spraying equipment 
has the appropriate license required to apply and spray the pesticides which are being 
used. The City of Walhalla will also ensure that the equipment being used is in 
compliance with local, state, and federal laws and regulations relating to the 
application of the pesticides which are being used.

3. The City of Westminster will provide the City of Walhalla with a list of all beehives 
within the city limits of the City of Westminster along each hive's location. Such notice 
shal1 be provided by calling the Sanitation Office at 864-638-4343 or by sending an 
email to rprice@cityofwalhalla.com.

4. The City of Westminster will post the spraying schedule along with any 
information regarding why any area might not be sprayed, The City of Westminster 
will also provide any notices of the spraying which are required by law.



Duration
This agreement will be effective for 90 days from the date of signing.

Liability 
The City of Westminster agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City of Walhalla from any claims, 
damages, losses, and expenses arising from the use of the mosquito control supplies and equipment by 
Westminster personnel.

Signatures

_________________________________                               _________________________________
Celia Myers, City Administrator               Kevin Broson, City Administrator 
City of Walhalla                 City of Westminster 

_________________________________                               _________________________________
Date                   Date



Item XII. D. 

John A. Wagner Award for Civic Achievement 

 

Awarded to the person or groups whose activities over the previous calendar year have directly 
contributed to the civic advancement of Walhalla and its citizens.  The award is named in honor of 
John A. Wagner, the founder of Walhalla. 

Eligibility:  And individual or group whose actions have provided a demonstrable benefit to the 
advancement of the City of Walhalla and the well-being of its residents.  Nominees do not 
necessarily have to reside within the city limits of Walhalla.  Prior winners will not be eligible again 
for a period of five years. 

Selection Process:  Nominations can be made by anyone and will be accepted from January 1 to 
April 30 and reviewed by a selection committee comprised of three to seven Walhalla citizens.  
Winners will be announced at the annual ‘State of Walhalla’ event. 

Award:  Winners will receive $1,000 and a plaque recognizing this achievement.  The city will also 
record winners’ names on a plaque maintained in a prominent location at City Hall. 

 

 



Item XII. E. July Meetings 

July 2nd Committee Meeting 

July 16th Regular Council Meeting 


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	moa.pdf
	Blank Page




